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SEMIRARA MINING CORPORATION 
 

SEC FORM 17-A 
 

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 17 
OF THE SECURITIES REGULATION CODE AND SECTION 141 

OF THE CORPORATION CODE OF THE PHILIPPINES 
 
1. For the fiscal year ended: December 31, 2008
 
2. SEC Identification No.: 91447          3.     BIR Tax ID No.: 000-190-324-000
 
4. Exact Name of issuer as specified in its charter: Semirara Mining Corporation
 
5.   Philippines                                                     6.  ______________ (SEC Use Only) 
      Province, Country or other jurisdiction of                  Industry Classification Code:     
      Incorporation or organization 
 
7.  2nd Floor, DMCI Plaza Bldg., 2281 Don Chino Roces Avenue, Makati City     1200 

Address of principal office             Postal Code 
 
8. (02) 888-3555 / (02) 888-3955 (Fax) 

Issuer’s telephone number, including area code 
 
9. ……………………………………………………………………………………… 

Former name, Address and fiscal year, if changed since last report 
 
10. Securities registered pursuant to Secs. 8 & 12 of SRC, or Secs. 4 & 8 of RSA 
 

Title of Each Class Number of Shares Stock Outstanding and 
Amount of Debt Outstanding 

Common 277,572,800 
 
11. Are any or all of these securities listed on a Stock Exchange 
 

Yes  ( )               No  ( ) 
 
 If yes, state the name of such stock exchange and the classes of securities listed therein:  
 
 Philippine Stock Exchange - Common Shares 
 
12. Check whether the issuer: 
 

(a) has filed all reports required to be filed by Sec. 17 of the SRC and SRC Rule17 thereunder or  
Sec. 11  of the  RSA  and  RSA Rule 11 (a)-1 thereunder and Sections 26 and 141 of the 
Corporation Code of the Philippines during the preceding twelve (12) months (or for such 
shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports); 

 
 Yes ( )                     No ( ) 
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(b) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past ninety (90) days. 
 

Yes (  )                    No ( ) 
 

(c) State the aggregate market value of the voting stock held by non-affiliates of the Registrant. 
 

Name No. Of Shares 
Held 

% of Total Aggregate Market 
Value 

PCD Nominee Corp. (NF) 87,658,033 31.58% P2,585,911,973.50 
Others 33,207,982 11.96% 979,635,469.00 

TOTAL 120,866,015 43.54% P3,565,474,442.501

 
 

                                                 
1 Computed on the basis of closing price at P29.50.00/share as of December 24, 2008 as quoted by the Philippine Stock 
Exchange. 
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NON-FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS 
 

PART I- BUSINESS AND GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
A. Description of Business 
 

(1) Business Development 
 
(a) Form and year of organization 

The Company was incorporated on February 26, 1980 to explore, develop, and mine the 
coal resources in Semirara Island. 

 
(b) Any bankruptcy, receivership or similar proceedings.   

None. 
 

(c) Any material reclassification, merger, consolidation, or purchase or sale of a 
significant amount of assets not in the ordinary course of business. 
None. 

  
(2) Business of Issuer 

 
(a) Description of Registrant 

 
(i) Principal product or services and their markets; 

The Company generates 98% of its revenues through the production of sub-
bituminous coal and 2% from coal handling services at NAPOCOR’s Calaca Power 
Plants.  In 2006, the power generation sector accounted for 72% of the Company’s 
total sales while the cement and other manufacturers contributed 28%. 

 
(ii) Percentage of sales or revenues and net income contributed by foreign sales for 

each of the last three years; 
Not applicable as we are purely dealing with local sales. 

 
(iii) Distribution methods of the products or services; 

Marketing policy is to sell directly to ultimate consumers.  This is done either on FOB 
Semirara basis or delivered plant site basis. 

 
(iv) Status of any publicly-announced new product or services; 

Not applicable. 
 

(v) Competition. 
Competition is insignificant in so far as domestic coal mine is concerned.  The 
company remains the largest coal producer in the Philippines, contributing 1.515 
million metric tons (MT) or 98.4% of total domestic coal production in 2001 while the 
nominal balance is shared by small-scale mines in Cebu, Bataan Island, and other 
areas.  Nonetheless, domestic coal demand is still anchored heavily on imported coal.  
In 2002, importation reached 5.930 million MT, representing 79.4% of aggregate 
supply, much higher than the 1.539 million MT (or 20.6% of aggregate supply) 
contributed by domestic coal producers.  China brought in the bulk of coal in the 
country, accounting for 49.84% of the total, followed by Indonesia (36.86%), Australia 
(9.26%) and Vietnam (4.04%).  In 2004, domestic producers supplied 27% of the total 
demand of 9.5 Million MTs increasing further to 32% of the 9.7 Million MTs market 
in 2005.  However, in 2006 domestic producers supplied only 25% of the total 
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demand of 9.5 Million MT’s because of higher imported volume due to demand of 
higher quality coal which came from other countries. Semirara supplied 22% of the 
country’s total coal consumption for 2006. The competitiveness of domestic coal 
producers is threatened by the more superior quality of imported coal as well as the 
government’s policy on liberalization.  This is however compensated by the 
Department of Energy's policy to promote indigenous energy resources and lower 
freight costs of local coal vis-à-vis imports. The Company remains to be competitive 
while it continues to exert efforts to improve the quality of its coal and keep 
production costs low. The tariff rates of sub-bituminous and other coal now stands at 
the rate of 3%. 

 
To be competitive, local coal industry must be priced competitively against imported 
coals, currently from, Indonesia, China & Australia.  Pricing of domestic coal is based 
on import parity inclusive of taxes and duties (at the current rate of taxes and duties).  
With the inherent quality of Semirara coal, it is estimated that it will be used by 
approximately 50% of the total Philippine market. The promptness of delivery and 
quality of coal is required. The power companies are mostly located in Luzon and a 
few in the Visayas and Mindanao. 

 
(vi) Sources and availability of raw materials and the name of Principal suppliers; any 

major existing supply contracts; 
The Company has a Coal Operating Contract with Department of Energy (DOE) in 
1977 (amended 1981) for the exploration, development, mining and utilization of coal 
over Semirara Island, Antique pursuant to PD 972.  Semirara Island has an estimated 
coal reserve of 150 million metric tons representing 50% of the country’s known coal 
reserve.  

   
Currently, Semirara Mining Corporation has a long term Supply Contract with 
National Power Corporation (NPC) for its power plants in Calaca. Potential 
requirement of the Calaca plants is approximately 1.5 to 2.0 Million MTs.  In March 
2003, NPC tested our coal for its Masinloc plant while deliveries were made to Sual 
and Pagbilao Power Plants in 2004 and 2005.   Both the Sual and Pagbilao plants are 
being operated by Mirant, Phil., Inc., and are covered by a Coal Supply and Energy 
Conversion Agreements with NPC.  These plants have potential market of 600,000 to 
800,000 Mts of coal per annum for Semirara coal.  

 
(vii) Dependence upon a single customer. 

Historically, approximately 98% of the Company’s revenue streams are from the 
NPC Calaca Plants.  NPC’s consumption of Semirara Coal has steadily increased 
since the Company worked on improving the quality of its coal.  Note that the 
Company started washing 25% of its production in mid 1999.  Resultantly, its market 
has widened, to include other power plants, the cement industry and other small 
industrial plants and in 2007, Semirara coal was tested by the export market.  In 2007, 
NPC’s share in volume and value of the Corporation’s sales went down to 38% and 
45%, respectively, from 63% to 68% in 2006.  In 2008, NPC share in volume and value 
further dropped to 24% to 40% due to steady increase in total volume sold resulting 
from increase in domestic sales to other power plants and industries and export sales 
as well.  In 2007, sale to domestic customers (outside NPC) accounted for 39% and 
37%, respectively, in terms of volume and value, and rose to 46% in volume and 
decreased by 27% in value in 2008.  Likewise, in 2007, export sales’ share in volume 
and value registered at 22% and 18%, respectively, and went up to 30% and 22% in 
2008. 
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(viii)Transactions with and/or dependence on related parties: 
National Power Corporation is the company’s principal consumer of Semirara’s coal. 

 
(ix) Patents, trademarks, copyrights, licenses, franchises, Concessions and royalty 

agreements held               
Under its Coal Operating Contract, the Company is obligated to pay royalties to the 
Department of Energy (DOE) – 3% royalty based on FOB sales and compensation for 
entry and use of private lands under the provisions of PD 972, as amended by PD 
1174, to land owners– P0.50/MT for untitled land and P1.00/MT for titled land. 

 
(x) Need for any government approval of principal products or services.  

The Company  has secured permits and licenses from the government as follows:  a) 
Coal Operating Contract with the DOE effective until 2012; b) Mineral Exploration 
Permit 99-001-VI issued by the DENR renewable every 2 years; c) Environmental 
Compliance Certificate (ECC) No. 9805-009-302 issued by the DENR effective for the 
duration of the projected) d) Business Permit issued by Caluya, Antique for 2008; e) 
Aerodrome Rating Certificate No. 218 issued by the ATO- yearly renewable by site; f) 
Certificate of Registration of Port Facilities No. 149;  Special Land Use Permit No. 03-
207 issued by the DENR.   

 
(xi) Effect of existing or probable governmental regulations on the business; 

       Tariff reduction on coal affects the price of coal. 
 

(xii) Estimate of amount spent on research and development Activities (2 fiscal years) 
None. 

 
(xiii) Costs and effects of compliance with environmental laws; 

The Corporation has programs being implemented to comply with the conditions of 
ECC, which includes the Regular Monitoring by the Multi-partite Monitoring Team 
(MMT), Marine Assessment Studies/Surveys, and Social & Environmental 
Development Programs such as expanded mangrove areas, initiated and supported 
livelihood projects, implemented reforestation programs on the island and cultivated 
fresh water sanctuary. The Company has spent P23.6 Million for these activities from 
2001-2006.  The Company has established an Environmental Monitoring Fund for 
MMT, which has an initial amount of P600,000, determined by the work and financial 
plan of the Monitoring Team.  Also, an Environmental Guarantee Fund was 
established with a cash component of 1.5 Million.  This enables the continued mining 
operations of the Company.  

 
(xiv) Total number of employees 

The average number of personnel of the Company is 1,649 and 1,522 for the years 
2008 and 2007, respectively, inclusive of employees based at the company’s head 
office in Manila. Out of the 1,649 employees for 2008, 204 are employed by Semirara 
while the rest are employed by DMC Construction Equipment Resources, Inc., an 
affiliate of Dacon Corporation. 

 
A new CBA was signed between the Company and the Semirara Mining Corporation 
Labor Union (SMCLU) last December 14, 2006 which will last five (5) years after 
effectivity.  There was a notice of strike or dispute which, however, did not 
materialized due to the settlement resulting to the signing of the new CBA.   

 
B. Description of Property 
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(1) Property 
The mine site in Semirara Island, Caluya, Antique, is a leased property from the government. 
The infrastructures and road network, office administration buildings, and power plants, are 
some of the improvements made by the Company on the leased area, as well as the 
following: 
 

 No. of Units 
Building Offices  
Administration Building 1 
Site Office 1 
Auxiliary Building 1 
Laboratory Building 1 
Washing Plant Office 1 
Power Plant Shed 1 
Product Field Office 1 
Service Base/Pit Shop Building 1 
Briquetting Building 1 
Classrooms for Barangay Semirara 12 
Ice Plant 1 
Genset Shed at Power Plant 1 
Magazine Building 3 
Pottery Building 1 
Water Refilling Station 1 
Classrooms for Divine Word College 6 
  
Housing  
Bachelor’s Quarters 6 
Ladies Quarters 2 
Quadruplex 17 
Group Staff house 5 
Individual Staff house 3 
Laborer’s Clusters 36 
Food House 2 
Molave Heights (Laborer’s Unit) 267 
  
Others  
Commissary Building 1 
Wet Market 1 
Hospital 1 
Guardhouse 1 
Site Hangar 3 
Site Chapel with Convent 1 
School Building 1 
Smart Cell site 1 
Multi-purpose Gym 2 

 
All properties with the net book values are active assets.  These are all located in Semirara 
Island, Caluya, Antique (mine site).  All properties are free of any liens and encumbrances 
except some mining equipments used as collateral for the Company’s loans. 
 
The company also invested in conventional and continuous mining equipments and other 
equipment worth P1.577 Billion and P1.095 Billion for years 2005 and 2006, respectively. 
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The company has no real estate properties. The only properties it has are those stated above. 
For further reference, please refer to Note No. 8 of the Notes to Financial Statements in 
audited report 2008.   

 
(2) Mining and Oil Companies 

The mining claims are located in Semirara Island, Caluya, Antique covering an area of 3,832 
hectares.   On March 10, 1999, the Company was granted an Exploration Permit for a period 
of two years and renewable for a like period for a maximum of 6 years.  The Exploration 
Permit is for limestone, silica and other quarry minerals. On June 28, 2004, the Mines & 
Geoscience Bureau issued a renewal of the permit.  The Company during the term of the 
Exploration Permit undertook geological mapping, rock sampling and analysis and 
beneficiation testing. The preliminary exploration conducted by the company indicates a 
considerate resource of limestone, silica and clay with potential commercial value. 
 

C. Legal Proceedings  
The following are the existing legal cases of the Corporation: 

 
1. The HGL Case. Sometime in January 2004, the Corporation received a complaint filed by 

HGL Development Corporation (“HGL”). The facts are as follows: 
 
On August 28, 1984, HGL entered into a Forest Land Grazing Lease Agreement (FLGLA No. 
184) with the Department of Environment and Natural Resources (“DENR”) covering a 367-
hectare land located at the barrios of Bobog and Pontod, Semirara, Antique. In its Order 
dated December 6, 2000, the DENR cancelled FLGLA No. 184 explaining that the subject area 
is within the coverage of Proclamation No. 649, which set apart the island of Semirara in the 
Province of Antique as coal mining reservations. 

 
HGL filed a letter requesting a reconsideration of the Order but the request was denied in the 
DENR’s letter-Order dated December 9, 2002. 
 
The Caloocan Case:  
On November 17, 2003, HGL filed a complaint against the DENR for specific performance 
and damages in Branch 121 of the Regional Trial Court of Caloocan City (RTC-Caloocan). 
HGL prayed that DENR should perform its obligations under FLGLA No. 184 and pay HGL 
for moral and exemplary damages and attorneys’ fees. 

 
On March 2, 2004, the Corporation filed a Motion for Intervention in the said case because the 
Order canceling FLGLA No. 184 sought to be reconsidered by HGL covers property located 
in the island of Semirara, Antique.  Said Motion for Intervention was granted. Subsequently, 
the Corporation filed a Motion to Dismiss on the ground of lack of cause of 
action/jurisdiction and forum shopping.  This was denied by the court.  A motion for 
reconsideration was filed by the Corporation.  After its denial, the Corporation went to the 
Court of Appeals last November 28, 2005.  It is the position of the Corporation that RTC-
Caloocan has no jurisdiction over the case. 
 
On January 16, 2007, the CA promulgated its decision reversing the decision of the RTC 
Caloocan finding grave abuse of discretion on the part of the presiding judge for failing to 
dismiss the case for lack of jurisdiction.  The CA ruled that the DENR decision canceling the 
FLGLA No. 184 of HGL has long been final and executory on account of its failure to 
properly take the proper remedy of appealing the DENR’s decision of cancellation to the 
Office of the President and then to the CA.  HGL filed its Motion for Reconsideration to 
adverse CA decision.    HGL’s Motion for Reconsideration was denied by the CA and 
accordingly dismissed the case. 
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HGL filed a Petition for Certiorari (SC G.R. No. 177844, 2nd Division) before the Supreme 
Court (SC) appealing the decision of the CA.  On November 14, 2007, the SC denied HGL’s 
petition for failure to sufficiently show any reversible error in the assailed CA decision and 
further denies HGL’s motion for leave and first and second motions of time to file a reply to 
the Corporation’s comments on the petition.  HGL filed its motion for reconsideration.  On 
July 2, 2008, HGL’s motion was denied by the Supreme Court with finality. 
 
On the other hand, in a case docketed as SC G.R. No. 180401, 1st Division (DENR vs. HGL), 
DENR’s petition for certiorari was denied by the SC on February 4, 2008.  DENR’ motion for 
reconsideration was likewise denied on March 25, 2008.  Said motion was denied with 
finality by the SC. 
 
Citing as basis the dismissal of the RTC-Culasi of SMC vs. HGL on the ground of forum 
shopping, SMC filed a Motion to Dismiss with the RTC-Caloocan (Civil Case No. C-20675).  
However, RTC-Caloocan denied the motion on December 24, 2008 and cited the SC decision 
on G.R. No. 180401 (DENR vs. HGL) to sustain its decision to retain jurisdiction over the case.  
SMC accordingly file its MR. 

   
The Culasi Case: 
HGL also filed a separate case against the Corporation on November 17, 2003 in Branch 13 
of the Regional Trial Court of Culasi, Antique (RTC-Culasi) for the recovery of their alleged 
possession of a 367-hectare land located at the barrios of Bobog and Pontod, Semirara, 
Antique. HGL prayed for the issuance of a preliminary mandatory injunction in order to 
secure immediate possession of the property pending litigation.  HGL also prayed for 
actual, moral and exemplary damages and attorney’s fees in the total amount of P10 million. 
The Corporation received the summons on January 15, 2004. 

 
On February 6, 2004, the Corporation filed its Answer to the Complaint. It prayed for the 
outright dismissal of the case for being baseless and unfounded as the order canceling 
FLGLA No. 184 has long been final and executory and can no longer be disturbed.  The 
Corporation claims exemplary and moral damages and attorneys’ fees. 

 
On September 16, 2004 the RTC of Culasi granted the preliminary mandatory injunction in 
favor of HGL which order was sustained by the CA’s, 19th Division.  The Corporation went 
up to the SC by way of Certiorari, with prayer for Temporary Restraining Order (TRO) 
and/or Injunction to be issued against HGL, the CA and the RTC-Culasi. The SC in its 
Order dated March 2, 2005 issued and granted a TRO as prayed for by the Corporation 
against HGL.  Said TRO is effective until further orders by the SC.   

 
On December 06, 2006, the SC promulgated its decision denying the Corporation’s Petition 
for Certiorari.  On January 18, 2007, the Corporation filed its Motion for Reconsideration and 
later on January 25, 2007 due to the ruling by the CA in the Caloocan case filed its 
Supplemental Motion for Reconsideration.    

 
On February 14, 2007, the SC denied with finality the Corporation’s Motion for 
Reconsideration and further denied with finality the Corporation’s supplement to the 
aforesaid motion for reconsideration of lack of merit. 

 
Meanwhile, on July 16, 2007, the RTC-Culasi dismissed the main case, as the two (2) cases 
filed by HGL was a deliberate violation of the rule on forum shopping.  RTC-Culasi further 
stated that in both cases, HGL’s cause of action rests on the validity of its FLGLA.  HGL filed 
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its Motion for Reconsideration.  On November 20, 2007, RTC-Culasi denied HGL’s Motion 
for Reconsideration.  No appeal was taken by HGL. 

 
Thereafter, on February 5, 2008, HGL filed before the SC a Petition for Indirect Contempt 
docketed as “HGL Development Corporation, represented by its President, Henry G. Lim, 
Petitioner vs. Hon. Rafael L. Penuela, in his capacity as Presiding Judge of RTC-Culasi, 
Antique, Branch 13, and Semirara Coal Corporation (now Semirara Mining Corporation, 
Respondents,” SC G.R. No. 181353.  The Petition is directed against both the Corporation’s 
responsible officers and the Presiding Judge who denied HGL’s Motion for Reconsideration 
on November 20, 2007.  In said Petition, HGL alleges, among others, that the dismissal of the 
Culasi case constitutes indirect contempt as HGL was not able to implement the SC’s decision 
dated December 6, 2006 (affirming the earlier order of RTC-Culasi granting HGL’s prayer for 
preliminary mandatory injunction) and resolution dated February 14, 2007, as RTC-Cualsi 
dismissed the main case or the Culasi case on the ground of forum shopping due to 
simultaneous filing of another case (Caloocan case) involving the same issues.  The 
Corporation has filed its Comments/Opposition to the Petition.  Subsequently, the SC 
required the parties to submit their respective Memoranda. 

 
2. Tax Refund/Credit Case. The Corporation filed various cases against the Commissioner of 

Internal Revenue before the Court of Tax Appeals (CTA) for tax credit/refund due to 
erroneously withheld and remitted VAT on coal sales to National Power Corporation (NPC) 
in the total amount of P190,500,981.23. 

 
3. Business Tax Case.  On February 26, 2007, SMC filed a complaint (SMC vs. Municipality of 

Calaca, RTC, Br. 137, Makati City, Civil Case No. 07-180.) to seek the reversal and 
cancellation of the tax assessment by the Municipality of Calaca for unpaid business tax for 
the CY 2003, 2004 and 2005 in the amount of P66,685,189.00.  The basis of the claim is that 
since coal is delivered to the port of Calaca and Corporation is doing business there as shown 
by the existence of an office, the situs of taxation is in Calaca.  The Corporation maintains that 
it is not maintaining an office in the Municipality of Calaca, despite delivery to NPC-Calaca, 
the proper situs of taxation is not in Calaca but in its principal office.  The case is pending 
Judicial Dispute Resolution (JDR) with the court. 

 
4. Real Property Tax Case. On February 19, 2008, the Municipality of Caluya Antique filed a 

case against the Corporation (Municipality of Caluya, Antique vs. SMC (Civil Case No. C-
051, RTC-Culasi, Branch 13)  for enforcement of the compromise agreement against 
Corporation submitted to the RTC on November 17, 2003 involving the balance of 
P82,979,702.24 in real property taxes for lots located in Semirara Island.  The Corporation 
maintains that the Motion for Execution has no legal basis and is premature due to a clause in 
the compromise agreement requiring that the parties first determine the correctness of the tax 
assessments which shall be subject to the verification of the parties.  This has not been done.  
The case is now pending with the Court. 

 
Except for the foregoing cases, the Corporation or its subsidiaries is not a party to any pending 
legal proceedings.  It is not involved in any pending legal proceedings with respect to any of its 
properties.  Apart from the foregoing, therefore, it is not involved in any claims or lawsuits 
involving damages, which may materially affect it or its subsidiaries. 
 

PART II – SECURITIES OF THE REGISTRANT 
 
A. Market price of and Dividends on Registrant’s Common Equity and Related  Stockholder 

Matters 
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(1) Market Information 
 

(a) Principal market where the registrant’s common equity is traded. 
The Company is listed in the Philippine Stock Exchange.  There has been no substantial 
trading since 1983 or 17 years.  However in 2004, DMCI Holdings, Inc. increased its 
shareholdings from 74.36% to 94.51%.  The National Development Co. (NDC) shares 
were decreased from 21.27% to 4.55% shares and the others from 4.3% to 0.94% shares.  
None of them sold their shares hence, no substantial trading occurred.  These changes in 
the percentage of holdings resulted from the Equity Restructuring of the Company's 
authorized capital stock and the subscription of DMCI Holdings, Inc. of 19,120,581 
additional shares in 2004. 

 
In February 2005, new additional 46,875,000 shares were sold to the public by the 
Corporation in its international offer.  Also in the same public offering, DMCI-HI as 
selling shareholder sold 58,171,000 reducing its shareholdings from 94.51% to 60%.  

 
(b) The Company’s security was traded at the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE) at a price of 

Php0.40/share on December 23, 2002. There was no trading of the Company’s securities 
in 2003 and 2004. The highs and lows (in Pesos) of trading during the past three (3) years 
are as follows: 

  
 
  High Low Close 

2008    
Jan-Mar  60.00 40.00 52.00 
Apr-Jun 62.00 46.00 62.00 
Jul-Sep 64.00 43.00 45.00 
Oct-Dec 43.50 29.50 29.50 

2007    
Jan-Mar  27.50 14.75 27.50 
Apr-Jun 29.50 25.00 29.00 
Jul-Sep 43.00 25.00 34.50 
Oct-Dec 49.50 34.50 44.00 

2006    
Jan-Mar  29.00 24.50 26.00 
Apr-Jun 32.00 25.00 28.50 
Jul-Sep 28.50 18.50 20.50 
Oct-Dec 22.25 18.25 18.25 

    

 
 
 

(2) Holders 
As of December 31, 2008, Semirara Mining Corporation has the following issued shares: 

 
Common shares - 296,875,0002  

 
Title Of Class Name Number Of 

Shares Held 
% of Total 

Common DMCI Holdings, Inc. 156,706,785 56.46 
Common PCD Nominee Corp. (NF) 87,658,033 31.58 
Common PCD Nominee Corp. (F) 15,702,117 05.66 
Common  Others 17,505,865 06.31 

                                                 
2 19,302,200 are treasury shares as of December 31, 2008. 
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Names of Top Twenty (20) Stockholders as of December 31, 2008: 

 
Name of Stockholders No. of Shares Percentage3

1.  DMCI Holdings, Inc. 156,706,785 56.46 
2.  PCD Nominee Corp. (NF) 87,658,033 31.58 
3.  PCD Nominee Corp. (F) 15,702,117 05.66 
4.  National Development Corporation 11,364,658 04.09 
5.  Dacon Corporation 5,253,025 01.89 
6.  Privatization and Management Office 769,450 00.28 
7.  Jaime B. Garcia 40,030 00.01 
8.  Ching Bun Teng 15,000 00.01 
9.  Isagani S. Amatong 13,900 00.01 
10. Raymond A. Yap 5,000 00.00 
11. Marana, Miguel De Castro 3,430 00.00 
12. Adrian Michael A. Amatong 2,700 00.00 
13. Antoinette Marie Amatong 2,700 00.00 
14.  Marana Jr., Cenon Bienvenido 2,700 00.00 
15. Anna Michelle A. Ranillo 2,700 00.00 
16. Joseph S. Arica 2,000 00.00 
17. Miguel DC Marana 1,200 00.00 
18. Exequiel Garcia 1,020 00.00 
19. Gregorio Madera 1,000 00.00 
20. Rolando I. Pattugalan 760 00.00 

 
(i) The table sets forth the record or beneficial owners of more than 5% of the 

outstanding common shares of the Corporation, which are entitled to vote and the 
amount of such record or beneficial ownership as of December 31, 2008:  

 
Title Of  

Class 
Names No. Of Shares % of Total 

Common DMCI Holdings, Inc. 156,706,785 56.46 
Common PCD Nominee Corp. (NF) 87,658,033 31.58 
Common PCD Nominee Corp. (F) 15,702,117 05.66 

 
(ii) each director and nominee 

 
Office Names 

Chairman David M. Consunji 
Vice-Chairman/CEO Isidro A. Consunji 
President/COO Victor A. Consunji 
Director Cesar A. Buenaventura 
Director/Resident Manager George G. San Pedro 
Director Jorge A. Consunji 
Director  Herbert M. Consunji 
Independent Director Victor C. Macalincag 
Independent Director Federico E. Puno 
Director Ma. Cristina C. Gotianun 
Director Ma. Edwina C. Laperal 

                                                 
3 Based on Corporation’s outstanding shares. 
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(iii) all directors and officers as a group, and the registrant’s present commitments to 

such persons with respect to the issuance of any class of its common equity. 
 

Title Of  
Class 

Name No. Of Shares % of Total 

Common David M. Consunji 10 00.00 
Common Isidro A. Consunji 10 00.00 
Common Victor A. Consunji 84,210 00.03 
Common Cesar A. Buenaventura 5,010 00.00 
Common Herbert M. Consunji 10 00.00 
Common Jorge A. Consunji 10 00.00 
Common George G. San Pedro 5,030 00.00 
Common  Ma. Cristina C. Gotianun 99 00.00 
Common Ma. Edwina C. Laperal 101 00.00 
Common Victor C. Macalincag 190,010 00.07 
Common Federico E. Puno 10 00.00 
Common Jaime B. Garcia 40,030 00.01 

 
(3) Dividends 

On February 18, 2008, the Board of Directors declared cash dividend at Php4.00 per 
outstanding share payable on March 26, 2008 to stockholders as of record date, March 3, 
2008.  In 2007, the Board likewise declared cash dividend on March 26, 2007 at PhP1.20 per 
outstanding share payable on April 30, 2007 to stockholders as of record date, April 12, 2007.  

 
(4) Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities 

No unregistered securities were sold in 2008, 2007 and 2006. 
 
 

PART III - FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 
A. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND 

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (YEARS 2005-2008) 
 

Full Years 2007-2008 
 

I.   PRODUCTION AND OPERATIONS  
To cater to increasing demand for coal, both from the domestic and export markets, the 
Company launched into another capacity expansion and modernization program in 2008 to 
increase capacities.  A total of 24 units 100-tonner dump trucks, 6 units excavators with 
bucket capacities ranging from 7-cubic meter to 15-cubic meter, and various complementing 
support mining equipment arrived in the mine site during the year.  
  
Although weather conditions were not favorable, the upgraded capacity generated high 
Total Material movement of 38,318,623 bank cubic meters (bcm), posting a 20% increase over 
2007 material movement of 32,054,236 bcm.  Waste material to coal ratio or strip ratio also 
inched up at 9.55:1 from 7.82:1 since the augmented excavating capacities were used for pit 
stabilization activities to reinforce the slopes after the occurrence of minor slide in June 2008, 
caused by continuous heavy rains in the second quarter.  As a result, more focus was directed 
on movement of waste materials over coal release.  Correspondingly Run-of-Mine (ROM) 
coal production dropped slightly by 1% from 3,754,774 metric tons (MTs) in 2007 to 3,733,001 
MTs this year.  After washing, Net Total Product Coal also recorded a drop by 1% from 
3,462,534 MTs last year to 3,436,879 MTs in the current year.  
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In-house exploration drilling at the eastern side of Panian Mine resulted to the discovery of 
coal deposit extension beyond the pit limit of the mine.   The new discovery is designated as 
East Panian deposit, which stretches to about 1.5 km x .07 km, with 44 holes drilled.  With the 
guidance of a Japanese consultant, data gathered from the drilled holes were analyzed to 
come up with an estimated resource.  Coal resource based on current estimates from this site 
is 48 million MTs.  Additional activities are programmed to determine mineable reserves in 
the area. 
 
Rainy season at the island is unusually long this year.  Moreover, the downpours were 
likewise extraordinarily heavy and started as early as second quarter of 2008, recording an 
average rainfall of 279 millimeters compared to same period last year’s rainfall of 145 
millimeters.  Rainy season extended up to November in the current year.  For the 8-month 
period starting April, the highest recorded rainfall was at 697 millimeters and lowest at 156 
millimeters.  Incessant heavy rains resulted to a partial caving in of a portion of the pit and 
disrupted coal production in the second half of the year.  This event prompted the Company 
to declare a force majeure on 2 July 2008 which lasted until almost the end of the year.  The 
force majeure was only lifted on 2 December 2008 when the rainy season finally ended.   
 
The commissioning of the 4 MW bunker-fired generator set at the start of the year intended 
to power dewatering pumps proved to be a prudent and timely decision as these pumps 
became very handy when rain started to pour early this year.  
  
With the improvement in weather conditions, operations pushed capacity to the limit to 
record a year-end closing coal inventory of 463,802 MTs.  
 
On 13 May 2008, the granting of the Company’s request filed before the Department of 
Energy for a fifteen (15)-year term extension of its Coal Operating Contract turned out as one 
of the highlights of operations this year.  The Company’s right to mine in the island is 
extended up to 14 July 2027. 
  
The end of 2008 marked another milestone for the Company.  Continuing efforts to uplift 
quality of operations earned the Company three certificates of recognition for conforming to 
international quality standards covered by ISO 9001:2000 for Quality Management System, 
ISO 14001:2004 for Environmental Management System, and OSHAS 18001:2007 for 
Occupational Health and Safety Management System. 

 
II.  MARKET  

 Growing demand from the local and export markets provided impetus for the Company to 
beef up capacity to seize the opportunity to further diversify and expand its market base.  
This is primarily driven by the sharp inflation of oil prices which motivated some industrial 
power plants to shift from bunker or diesel to coal for fuel.  The arrival of new mining 
equipment at first allowed the Company to match demand.  However, when rainy season 
kicked in earlier in the second quarter of the year, which consequently triggered the 
declaration of force majeure, the Company lost the opportunity to sell and ship out about 
600,000 tons of contracted export volume.  Notwithstanding, export sales grew by 24% at  
992,749 MTs in 2008 from 798,806 MTs in 2007.  Total exports claimed a 30% market share, 
posting an improvement over 2007 share in the pie of 22%.  
  
Meanwhile, local sales dropped by 16% from 2,775,771 MTs in 2007 to 2,320,287 MTs this 
year.  The slump mainly came from the 41% decline in sales to the National Power 
Corporation (NPC) at 799,190 MTs in the current year from 1,365,168 MTs last year as the 
Calaca plants in Batangas continued to experience technical problems.  On the other hand, 
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sales to other power plants recorded an 18% improvement at 590,254 MTs from 501,990 MTs 
in 2007.  The increased off-take by Non-NPC power plants tempered the decline in total sales 
to the power industry at 26% from 1,867,158 MTs in 2007 to 1,389,444 MTs this year.  
Remarkably, this industry still accounted for the biggest market share at 42%.  
  
Moreover, sales to other industries posted a slight 2% increase at 931,043 MTs from 908,613 
MTs in 2007.  The 53% surge in sales to other industries at 235,847 MTs in the current year 
from 153,732 MTs in 2007 offset the 8% drop in sales to cement plants which posted sales of 
695,196 MTs in 2008 from 754,881 MTs in 2007.  
  
Total sales volume in 2008 dipped by 7% from 3,574,577 MTs in 2007 to 3,313,236 MTs this 
year.   
  
On a positive note, rising demand for coal amidst high oil prices drove FOB selling price at 
record high in the latter part of the year.  Despite weaker first half prices, Composite Average 
Selling Price for the year marked a 43% growth at P2,549/MT from P1,784/MT in 2007.   

 
III.  FINANCE  
 

A.    Sales and Profitability   
High coal prices compensated for the slight decrease in sales volume, such that Coal 
Revenues posted a healthy increase of 32% from 2007 level of P6.38 billion to P8.45 billion 
this year.  On the other hand, the slow down in the Calaca operations translated to a 51% 
drop in Coal Handling Revenues from P90.7 million in 2007 to P43.99 million in the 
current period.  The resulting Total Revenues showed an improvement of 31% at P8.49 
billion from P6.47 billion last year.  
  
Spike in oil prices, coupled with depreciation of the peso from 2007 level, resulted to cost 
push inflation in 2008.  As a consequence, per metric ton fuel and lube, materials and 
supplies, and ship loading costs registered a 74%, 89%, and 62% increase, respectively.  
Maintenance costs incurred for industrial facilities and campsite facilities also 
contributed to the increase in cost per metric ton since these are charged to production 
cost.  These greatly contributed to the 44% increase in Cost of Coal Sold/MT at P2,095.71 
this period from P1,453.04 last year.  Applied to the volumes sold, Cost of Sales reflected 
a 34% increase at P6.94 billion from P5.19 billion in 2007.  Non-Cash component dropped 
to 17% since most of the new equipment purchased were covered by operating leases, 
and are therefore not carried in the books of the Company as depreciable assets.  
  
Gross profit is 22% higher at P1.55 billion this year compared to P1.27 billion last year.  
Higher Cost of Sales/MT explains the decrease in Gross Profit margin from 20% in 2007 
to 18% this period.  
  
Government share, which is a function of Net Coal Revenues, after operating costs, 
recorded a corresponding increase by 32% at P253.38 million from P191.29 million in 
2007.  Government share is maintained at the minimum of 3% of Coal Revenues.  
Meanwhile, increase in General and Administrative Expenses by 54% at P205.54 million 
from P133.09 million in 2007 signified expanded operations.  This amount, however, 
included the recognition of P34.04 million wharfage fees billed by the Philippine Ports 
Authority (PPA) for deliveries made to the NPC Calaca Plants.  The payment of 50% of 
the amount billed was made under protest, citing its exemption under Section 16 (a) of 
Presidential Decree 972 which provides that the Company is exempt from all taxes except 
income tax.  
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With decreased interest bearing loans, Finance Costs fell by 28% from P140.25 million in 
2007 to P101.24 million this year.  Meanwhile, higher placements in 2008 earned higher 
Finance Revenues amounting to P77.23 million this year from P40.20 million in 2007.  
Fluctuations of the US Dollar against the Peso proved to be unfavorable for the Company 
as it incurred Foreign Exchange Losses amounting to P82.78 million this year.  In contrast 
the company recognized Foreign Exchange Gains of P102.96 million in 2007.  Finally, 
Other Income increased by 478% at P54.44 million from P9.42 million last year, mainly 
from sale of a number of retired dump trucks and recoveries from insurance claims.  
  
Net Income Before Tax increased by 8% at P1.03 billion from P960.77 million in 2007.  On 
the other hand,     Provision for Current Income Tax fell by 13% at P290.50 million from 
P333.67 million.  After provision for Net Deferred Tax liability of P53.48 million, Net 
Current Tax provision is at P237.02 million.  In September 2008, the Company 
successfully registered with the Board of Investments as expanding producer of coal, as 
included in the Investments Priorities Plan of 2007, and in accordance with the provisions 
of the Omnibus Investments Code of 1997.  One of the incentives of a BOI-registered 
enterprise is an Income Tax Holiday (ITH) for the registered activity.  In the case of the 
Company, registered activity is the expanded capacity with base figure of 2.71 million 
MTs.  Sales volume beyond this base figure is entitled to an ITH for six years from date of 
registration.   
  
The resulting Net Income After Tax reflected a 26% growth at P796.40 million from 
P633.28 million in 2007.  Earnings per Share correspondingly increased by 24% from 
P2.28 in 2007 to P2.87 this year. 

 
B. Financial Condition, Solvency and Liquidity  

In 2008, the Company launched a capacity expansion program to meet the demands from 
the newly developed export markets.  Mining equipment amounting to P1.68 billion 
were ordered and paid using internally-generated cash.  Most of the new arrivals were 
later subjected to sale and leaseback transactions, covered by operating leases.  Due to 
timing difference, not all purchased assets during the year were covered by sale and 
leaseback arrangements as at the end of the year.  Moreover, cash dividends declared and 
paid during the year amounted to P1.11 billion, 233% higher than dividends of P333.09 
million paid last year.  These translated to a 39% drop in Cash and Cash Equivalents 
which closed at P1.01 billion from P1.65 billion beginning balance.  
  
Meanwhile, Net Receivables went up by 50% from P1.25 billion in 2007 to P1.88 billion 
this year.  The increase was due to the 66% surge in Trade Receivables, which accounted 
for the bulk of the item at P1.77 billion in the current period from P1.07 billion in 2007.  
Coal shipments in the later part of the year comprised the bulk of trade receivables.  
Meanwhile, Non-Trade Related Receivables, which included the due from related parties 
and advances to suppliers dropped by 37%, closing at P124.97 million from P196.76 
million beginning balance.  This is mainly attributed to the decrease in receivables from 
related parties. 
  
The improvement in weather conditions in December signaled the end of the force 
majeure situation.  Operations took advantage of the good weather to ramp up 
production.  As a result, Coal Inventory, which ran at low levels throughout the year, 
closed at a more normal level at 463,802 MTs as at the end of the year.  This is 12% higher 
than beginning inventory of 413,747 MTs.  The increase in volume, compounded by 
higher Cost of Coal Inventory, brought Ending Coal Inventory at P896.73 million, 57% 
higher than beginning balance of P570.81 million.  On the other hand, Materials and Parts 
Inventory dropped by 45% from P881.86 million beginning balance to P486.49 million as 
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at the end of the year due to higher utilization of materials and parts  for operation and 
for the rehabilitation and maintenance program of industrial and campsite facilities 
which the company started to implement.  As a result, Total Inventories maintained at 
almost the same level at P1.38 billion, from beginning balance of P1.45 billion because the 
decrease in parts and materials inventory was offset by the increase in coal inventory 
cost. 
  
Other Current Assets recorded a 10% increase from beginning balance of P205.99 million 
to P226.11 billion.  The increase is mainly due to the accounting of prepaid rent and 
insurance of equipment. 
  
The resulting Net Current Assets slightly dropped, but stayed at almost the same level at 
P4.50 billion as at the end of the period from P4.56 billion beginning balance.  
  
Non-Current Assets decreased by a more significant percentage at 20% from P2.00 billion 
as at the start of the year to P1.61 billion ending balance.  This is mainly caused by the 
42% slump in Property, Plant and Equipment which closed at P1.11 billion from P1.90 
billion beginning level after booking depreciation cost of old mining equipment and 
other facilities.  Although more mining equipment were purchased in 2008, most of these 
equipment were not carried in the books of the Company since these are covered by sale 
and leaseback arrangements with a local leasing company.  On the other hand, 
Investments and Advances rose by 176% from P80.87 million spent in 2007 to P223.23 
million ending balance.  Additional investments were made to DMCI Mining 
Corporation (DMCI-MC) and DMCI Power Corporation (DMCI-PC) during the year.  
Total investments to these companies amounted to P225 million, P100 million to DMCI-
MC representing 100 million common shares par value of P1.00, and P125 million to 
DMCI-PC representing 125 million common shares at par value of P1.00.  As at the end of 
the period, the Company accounted for 50% share in equity losses of these start-up 
companies amounting to P1.77 million.  
  
Total Assets recorded a 7% decline at P6.11 billion from P6.56 billion beginning balance.  
  
Likewise, Total Liabilities recorded a slump of 7%, closing at P1.81 billion from P1.94 
billion beginning balance.  The 15% increase in Current  Liabilities which closed at P1.64 
billion from P1.46 billion was offset by the huge 64% drop in Non-Current Liabilities 
from P482.05 million beginning balance to P173.89 million as at the end of the period.  
  
The 74% jump in Trade and Other Payables from P682.43 million to P1.19 billion, which 
included non-interest bearing liabilities to foreign suppliers for open account purchases 
of equipment and equipment parts and supplies that are normally settled on 30 to 60-day 
credit terms, largely explains the increase in Current Liabilities.   
  
Meanwhile, Income Tax Payable increased by 45% at P58.06 million from P40.17 million 
as at the start of the period.  Higher income generation translated to higher Taxable 
Income.  
  
Customer’s Deposits represent customer advances for coal deliveries.  Delivery 
commitments to three customers accounted for the P8.87 million beginning balance.  This 
amount was totally wiped off when deliveries were made during the year.  Meanwhile, 
the closing balance of P1.21 million represented balance of new advances from another 
local customer.  
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Debt repayments during the year amounting to P2.13 billion brought down both Current 
and Long-Term portions to P389.23 million and P137.07 million, respectively, or a total of 
P526.30 million.  This effectively decreased Total Long-Term debts by 53% from total 
beginning balance of P1.13 billion.  
  
Other Non-current Liabilities accounts also showed significant movements.  Deferred 
Tax Liability dropped by 80% from P67.60 beginning balance to P14.13 as at the end of 
the year.  On the other hand, Provision for Decommissioning and Site Rehabilitation 
grew by 8% from P12.21 million to P13.20 million.  Meanwhile, Pension Liability closed 
at P9.50 million, registering a 104% increase from P4.66 million at the start of the year.  
 
Current Ratio remained healthy at 2.75:1 at the close of the current year, although this 
dropped by 12% compared to 2007 level at 3.12:1.  
  
Meanwhile, despite the 233% increase in total Cash Dividends paid out in 2008 
amounting to P1.11 billion as against 2007 Cash Dividends of P333.09 million, 
Stockholders’ Equity only registered a minimal drop of 7%, closing at P4.30 billion from 
beginning balance of P4.61 billion after accounting for Net Income generation of P796.4 
million.  Debt-to-Equity ratio continued to demonstrate the stability of the Company at a 
low level of 0.43:1, a minimal slide from 0.42:1 in 2007.  

 
C.    Performance Indicators   

1. Average Selling Price – Now that the Company has a diverse market base, pricing 
for its coal is not anymore dictated by its dependence on a few customers.  Since it 
started exporting, pricing mechanism became more dynamic and updated with the 
international prices for the commodity.  This is an important milestone as the 
Company further seeks to develop its export capabilities.  FOB price of Semirara coal 
for the year moved with the rising world prices towards the end of the period.  

 2. Debt to Equity Ratio – The aggressive expansion and investment strategies of the 
Company is carefully hinged on its financial capabilities as reflected in the strength 
of its balance sheet.  The DE Ratio is maintained at a low level for a few years now, 
such that when a good opportunity presents itself, the Company can afford to further 
leverage.  This clearly underscores its growth potential.  

 3. Capital Expenditures – The Company’s high Capex in 2008 indicates an optimistic 
view of its future.  The expansion and modernization program is in response to the 
growing demand for Semirara Coal, especially from the export markets.  It is 
important that the Company can prove supply dependability to the newly 
penetrated markets to ensure long-term success in marketing the product.  To 
achieve this, investments in new mining equipment were made during the year.  

 4. Expanded Market – In its second year of venturing to the global markets, the 
Company is still looking for opportunities to further strengthen its brand in the 
industry.  In 2008, market share of export sales increased to 30% from 22% in 2007.  
Of the 922,749 MTs exported, 58% went to China, 36% to India, and 6% to Hong 
Kong.  

 5. Improved Coal Quality – The success of the Company’s diligent efforts at quality 
improvement is clearly indicated in its successful attempt at market diversification.  
Taking an extra mile, the Company further endeavors to enhance the holistic 
development of its business, such that in 2007, works on having the Company ISO 
certified were started.  Finally, in 2008, the Company obtained ISO certifications on 
Integrated Management System covering three (3) standards as follows: Quality 
Management System (ISO 9001:2000), Environmental Management System (ISO 
14001:2004), and Occupational Health and Safety Management System (OSHAS 
18001:2007).  Compliance to international standards as attested by these ISO 
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certifications will advance the Company’s goal of lifting product standard and will 
consequently enable it to secure a niche in and gain respect from both the domestic 
and international coal markets. 

 
Full Years 2006-2007 
 
I. PRODUCTION 

Market conditions shaped the pace of operations in 2007.  Increased demand from domestic 
buyers and the breakthrough in the export market drove operations in the current year to 
maximize coal production.  As a result, waste material to coal ratio or strip ratio has gone 
down to the standard level of 7.82:1 in 2007 from 14.13:1 in 2006. 
 
The high strip ratio in 2006 resulted to advance overburden stripping exposing a million 
metric tons of coal thereby allowing increased coal production despite lower strip ratio in 
2007. Consequently, Total Materials moved in 2007 is 17% lower at 32,054,237 bank cubic 
meters (bcm) than Total Materials movement in 2006 of 38,423,124 bcm.  On the other hand, 
Run-of-mine (ROM) coal posted a 45% increase from 2,587,569 metric tons (MTs) in 2006 to a 
historical high of 3,754,774 MTs this year.  Net of waste after washing, the resulting Total 
Product Coal (TPC) likewise recorded a historical high of 3,462,534 MTs in 2007, posting a 
growth of 53% from 2,269,959 MTs in the previous year. 
 
Meanwhile, increased coal production necessitated a corresponding improvement in logistic 
support to maintain efficiency in product handling.  The successful diversification to export 
markets required the upgrading of pier facilities to accommodate 50,000-tonne vessels.  
Currently, dredging activities at the pier are ongoing to enable these huge vessels to dock for 
safe berthing and to load coal faster using the conveyor and ship loader line.  As a result, 
export vessels and smaller barges for local deliveries can now be loaded simultaneously, as 
the new barge loading facility with a rated capacity of 750 MTs/hr which was set up last year 
is now fully operational to load the smaller vessels. 
 
To complement waste material movement, a second line of in-pit crusher and conveyor 
system was set up and became fully operational during the first quarter of the year.  The 
increased in capacity is effective in offsetting the negative impact of the continuous increase 
in oil price, as use of trucks for hauling materials was minimized.  
 
As a consequence of a healthier market demand, current year ended with coal inventory 
lower by 30% at 423,934 MTs as compared to 2006 end inventory of 606,030.   

 
The increasing coal demand also incited management to plan another expansion program to 
be able to serve its expanding markets.  Towards the end of the current year, the Company 
negotiated to purchase two units 16 cubic meter excavators, 16 units 100-tonner dumptrucks, 
and other support mining equipment for delivery in 2008.   
 
Meanwhile, to complement the expanding operations of the Company, management is taking 
serious efforts to improve the quality in delivering services to customers and other 
stakeholders.  To achieve this, it is currently applying and processing ISO certifications 9001 
and 14001 for Quality Management System and Environmental Management System, 
respectively.  Likewise, it also seeks to get Occupational Health and Safety Management 
System (OSHAS) 18001 certification.   
 

II. MARKET 
Learning from the costly experience of dependence in local markets, management intensified 
its efforts to break through the barriers and penetrate the export markets.  Demand for 
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Semirara coal dramatically plummeted in 2006 when natural gas-fired plants were given 
dispatch priorities.  This event made management realize that to sustain growth targets, the 
Company needed to diversify overseas.  Due to quality limitations of Semirara coal vis-à-vis 
the requirements of existing Philippine coal plants, which were mostly designed to burn 
higher-quality coal, the onshore demand growth potential for the product is unfavorably 
limited.  Hence, the regional shortage of thermal coal provided the Company a timely 
window to introduce its coal to the vast export market.  After months of marketing and 
negotiating with potential end-users and traders, the Company made its maiden shipment 
containing 28,836 MTs of coal to South China in February.  The initial shipment was found 
acceptable in terms of quality.  The ensuing months further strengthened the Semirara brand 
when deliveries to more plants in China, India and Hong Kong were likewise successful.  As 
a result, the Company was overwhelmed with export orders in its maiden year in the 
international market, that toward the end of the year, some export contract proposals had to 
be politely declined.  With the increasing demand for Semirara coal, the Company was able 
to successfully negotiate for better prices for subsequent shipments. 
 
On the local front, the shortage of coal in the region also augured well for the Company as 
more plants decided to try using Semirara coal.  As a result, total local sales posted a 34% 
increase from 2006 sales volume of 2.076 million MTs to 2.776 million in the current year.  
With export sales amounting to 798.8 thousand MTs, total sales volume in 2007 registered at 
3.575 million MTs, or 72% higher than 2006 volume. 
 
Notably, despite recording a 5% growth over the previous year’s volume of 1.3 million MTs, 
2007 sales to the National Power Corporation (NPC) of 1.365 million MTs reflected a decrease 
in market share from 63% in 2006 to 38% this year.  Added to improving volumes from other 
power plants, augmented by two new markets, namely Asia Pacific Energy Corp. and Steag 
State Power Energy, Inc., total sales to power plants reached a record high of 1.867 million 
MTs in 2007, which posted a 25% growth from the sales to this industry in 2006 of 1.496 
million MTs. 
 
Demand from the cement industry also recovered in 2007, with sales volume showing a 42% 
improvement at 754.9 thousand MTs from the previous year’s sales of 531.3 thousand MTs.   
 
Similarly, sales to industrial users also skyrocketed by 214% from last year’s volume of 48.9 
thousand MTs to 153.7 thousand MTs, as more small industrial plants were converting from 
bunker or diesel – fired to coal plants. 
 
Meanwhile, exports accounted for 22% of sales in 2007.  Of the 798.8 thousand MTs exported, 
46% went to China, 44% to India, and the remaining 10% to Hong Kong. 
 
On the downside, the steep devaluation of the dollar, which is the currency used to trade coal 
in the international market, impacted negatively to the Composite Selling Price of Semirara 
coal.  FOB price averaged at P1,784/MT in 2007, which is 19% less than 2006 selling price of 
2,212/MT. 

 
Looking forward, however, the continuous upsurge in global demand for coal spells well for 
Semirara coal, in terms of sales volume and prices.  Currently, demand and coal prices are 
continuously inching upward. 
 

III. FINANCE 
 
A. Sales and Profitability 
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Robust market demand translated to higher Coal Revenues in the current year 
registering a historic level of P6.38 billion, and recording a 39% growth from 2006 Coal 
Revenues of P4.59 billion.  Meanwhile, another P90.7 million was generated from coal 
handling activities at the Calaca coal yard this year, posting a slight 6% decrease from 
2006 Coal Handling Revenues of P96.34 million.  Reduced dependence on the NPC - 
Calaca plants also translated to decreased Coal Handling Revenues, which is a function 
of Coal deliveries to Calaca, to 1% from 2% share in the Revenue pie last year. 
 
Economies of scale from increased production resulted to lower Cost of Coal Sold/MT to 
P1,453.04 which showed a 17% decrease from 2006 unit cost of P1,754.82.  However, with 
more volumes sold this year, total Cost of Sales escalated by 40% from P3.71 billion in 
2006 to P5.19 billion in the current period.  Non-Cash component of Cost of Sales 
remained at 32%, as a result of the accelerated depreciation policy of the Company. 
 
The resulting Gross Profit showed a 31% improvement at P1.27 billion from P974.53 
million in 2006.  However, as a consequence of lower Composite Average Selling 
Price/MT, Gross Profit margin dipped slightly to 20% from 21% in the previous period. 
 
Operating Expenses showed a significant growth of 144% from P133.12 million in 2006 to 
P324.38 million in the current year.  Although government share was maintained to the 
minimum of 3% of Coal Sales, because of higher Revenues, the absolute amount posted a 
38% growth to P191.29 million from P138.27 million in 2006.  Meanwhile, General and 
Administrative Expenses in 2006 recorded a negative figure as a result of the reversal of 
the Provision of Real Property Taxes amounting to P71.53 million, in accordance with 
Presidential Decree (PD) 972 exempting the Company from all taxes except income tax.  
Hence, this mainly contributed to the substantial difference in Operating Expenses 
between the two comparative periods.  General and Administrative Expenses amounting 
to P133.09 million in the current period consisted of Salaries and Wages of Makati 
personnel (with noted increase due to formalization of top executive positions which are 
now properly charged to this account), Office Expenses, Professional Fees, 
Transportation and Travel Expenses, Representation Costs, and Taxes and Licenses. The 
cost of transportation and travel as well as representation and other expenses likewise 
posted an increase in relation to marketing and selling transactions. 
 
On the other hand, Finance Cost recorded a 34% reduction due to lower interest rates 
applied to decreasing balance on interest-bearing loans which totaled to P1.69 billion as 
at the end of 2006 to P1.13 billion at yearend 2007.  Finance Cost registered at P140.25 
million this year compared to the P213.04 million incurred last year. 
 
Meanwhile, Finance Revenue is 26% lower during the current year at P40.30 million from 
P54.53 million in 2006.  This is explained by the lower beginning Cash balance this year 
used for investments.  Cash only started to build up during the second half of the year 
when export sales stepped up and excess cash were placed in short-term investments  
 
The continued depreciation of the US Dollar against the Peso afforded the Company to 
continue to book Foreign Exchange Gains amounting to P102.96 million in 2007 from 
P49.03: USD1 at beginning of the year to P41.28: USD1 at end of the  year.  This amount is 
14% lower than Foreign Exchange Gains of P119.96 million earned in 2006 as dollar-
denominated liabilities declined with the regular principal amortization. 
 
Other Income also recorded a significant drop by 91% from P107.61 million in 2006 to 
P9.42 in the current year as recoveries from insurance claims were lower in 2007 at P4.25 
million as compared to 2006 level of P70.21 million.  Moreover, more equipment were 
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disposed last year enabling the Company to record more Gains from Sale of Property and 
Equipment in the previous period.   
 
The resulting Net Income Before Tax showed a modest growth of 6% from P910.47 
million in 2006 to P960.77 million in the current period.  Provision for Income Tax in the 
current year correspondingly increased by 6% at P327.97 million from P309.23 in 2006.  
Net Income After Tax also posted a slight increase of 5% from P601.24 million in 2006 to 
P633 million this year. 
 
Earnings per Share is 6% higher at P2.28 in 2007 from P2.161 in the previous year. 
 

B. Financial Condition, Solvency and Liquidity 
The shipment of more export sales towards the end of the year significantly boosted 
yearend cash.  Export deliveries were covered by sight Letters of Credits.  Hence 
payment collections were done right after the shipment of coal, unlike for local deliveries 
wherein collection period ranges between 45 to 60 days.  Moreover, the Company 
recouped its Temporary Investments made in 2006 amounting to P300 million in the 
current period.  The resulting 2007 Cash end of P1.65 billion reflected a 223% increase 
from end 2006 Cash level of P510.44 million.   
 
Meanwhile, net Receivables almost doubled to P1.12 billion from P566.88 million mainly 
as a consequence of the corresponding surge in Trade Receivables with the increased 
sales in 2007.  Of the amount, 96% were Trade Receivables for both local and export sales.  
Sales Volume in December reached a historic high of 465,392 MTs, thus explaining the 
huge accounting of Receivables. 
 
The increase in demand also resulted to decrease in Inventories in 2007.  Cost of Coal 
Inventory went down by 44% from P1.02 billion as at yearend 2006 to P570.81 million at 
the close of the fiscal year 2007.  On the other hand, Cost of Materials and Parts Inventory 
slightly rose by 7% from P823.38 in 2006 to P881.86 in the current year, apart from 
increase requirements for rehabilitation activities, importation in transit intended for 
projects as of end of the year recorded at P104 million.  The reduced coal ending 
inventory contributed to the Total Inventories declined by 21% from P1.84 billion in 2006 
to P1.45 billion this year. 
 
Other Current Assets account is mainly comprised of the 5% Input Value Added Tax 
(VAT) withheld by NPC which amounted to P199.76 million as of end of the current year 
and P175.34 million last year.  However, the Company is reclaiming the amount in 
accordance with its VAT-exempt status.  On 7 March 2007, the Company obtained a 
ruling from the Bureau of Internal Revenue which reiterated that the sale of coal remains 
exempt from VAT.  While the refund is being processed, this account temporarily 
boosted Other Current Assets to P187.98 million and P215.24 million in 2006 and 2007, 
respectively. 
 
Total Current Assets aggregated to P4.43 billion as at the end of 2007, reflecting a 30% 
growth from 2006 yearend level of P3.41 billion. 

 
On the other hand, Non-Current Assets dropped by 36% from P3.11 billion in 2006 to 
P1.99 billion in the current period.  This is mainly caused by the decrease in net book 
value of Property, Plant and Equipment by 37% due to depreciation, with very minimal 
capital expenditures incurred during the year.  As mentioned earlier, the Company 
employs an accelerated depreciation policy.  Conversely, towards the end of 2007, the 
Company made P80.87 million advances for equity interest in power and nickel mining 
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businesses.  Meanwhile, Marginal Deposits on equipment and parts purchases 
amounting to P5.64 million booked in 2006 were wiped out with the arrival of these 
materials and subsequent reclassification to proper accounts.   
 
The huge decline in Non-Current Assets offset the growth in Current Assets resulting to 
a slight 1% drop in Total Assets from P6.51 billion in 2006 to P6.42 billion as at the end of 
the current year. 
 
Similarly, Total Liabilities plunged by a more significant percentage of 18% from P2.20 
billion in the previous year to P1.81 billion in 2007.  Current Liabilities recorded a minor 
dip of 1%  when increase in Trade and Other Payables from P320.46 million in 2006 to 
P546.60 million this period due to booking of more Trade Payables on parts under 
consignment, booked payables to various project contractors and high provision for the 
last quarter government share offset the reduction of Current Portion of Long-Term Debt.   
 
Non-Current Liabilities on the other hand, recorded a more hefty slump by 43% from 
P850.66 million last year to P482.05 in the current year.  This is mainly attributed to the 
continuous amortization of loans, which consequently resulted to a decrease in Non-
Current portion of Long-Term debt by 44% from P713.06 million to P397.58 million as at 
the end of 2007.  The funding of Pension Liability which caused the reduction of the 
account from P52.67 million in 2006 to P4.66 million in the current year likewise 
contributed to the decrease in Non-Current Liabilities. 
 
The improvement in Current Assets, augmented by the decrease in Current Liabilities, 
resulted to a remarkable increase in Current Ratio by 32% from 2.53:1 in 2006 to 3.34:1 in 
the current year. 
 
Meanwhile, despite the declaration of Cash Dividends amounting to P333.09 million, 
similar to the amount of dividends declared in 2006, Stockholders’ Equity further 
strengthened with the recognition of Net Income of P633 million in the current year.  The 
positive bottom line boosted Retained Earnings by 10% from P2.97 billion in 2006 to 
P3.27 billion as at the end of 2007.  Furthermore, Total Stockholders’ Equity also posted 
an increase at P4.61 billion from P4.31 billion at yearend 2006, or a growth by 7%.  As a 
consequence, the Company’s Debt-to-Equity ratio further strengthened from 0.51:1 to 
0.39:1, showing a 23% improvement. 
 

C. Performance Indicators 
1. Average Selling Price – This performance indicator demonstrates the effect of 

movement in global coal prices on the pricing of Semirara coal.  However, this year, 
the Company set out to penetrate the export market.  With the inherent quality 
limitations of its coal, there was no guarantee that the venture will be fruitful.  
Hence, in order to provide motivation to new export markets to at least try burning 
Semirara coal, the Company sold trial shipments at almost break even price.  With 
the success of the diversification strategy however, the Company was able to parallel 
the upward movement of global coal prices toward the end of the year.  On the local 
front however, the depreciation of the Peso against the US dollar put a dent on the 
Composite Average Selling Price per MT. 

2. Debt to Equity Ratio – As an effective gauge of the Company’s financial strength, 
the continuous improvement of this figure boosts the confidence of financial 
institutions to offer more aggressive financing packages and investors to put more 
money into the Company.  A healthy solvency condition also afforded the Company 
to consider investment opportunities to further add to its value.  Considering its core 
competencies, the Company is investing in a nickel mine.  Also, as a forward 
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integration strategy, it is putting in money to the power industry to augment and 
guarantee market for Semirara coal. 

3. Capital Expenditures – After the completion of the capacity expansion program in 
2006, Capital Expenditures in 2007 were minimal.  However, with the increasing 
demand from the local markets and new export demands, the Company is planning 
another capacity expansion activity.  Towards the end of the year, orders for one 16-
cubic meter excavator and 12 units 100-tonner dump trucks were placed for delivery 
during the first half of 2008. 

4. Expanded Market - 2007 is an exciting year for the Company.  From a slow market in 
2006, the scenario has completely turned around in the current year.  Regional 
demand for coal has suddenly skyrocketed, thus giving Semirara an opportunity to 
penetrate the international market.  This is a huge milestone for the Company since 
the event finally ended its over-dependence on local markets.  Breaching the export 
market opens a vast and totally new avenue for growth for the Company.  The 
Company has finally elevated its business to a new and higher platform, and it is 
gearing up for new challenges. 

5. Improved Coal Quality – The new market opportunities of the Company brings 
forth more challenges to improve the quality of its products to achieve sustainable 
growth.  More importantly, the Company must manage the stability of the quality 
parameters of its deliveries in order to successfully establish a brand.  It is then 
imperative for management to invest in more quality-enhancing processes to achieve 
this.  Currently, it is finalizing the specifications of a new washing plant to address 
the ash issue of the product. 

 
Full Years 2005-2006 

 
I. PRODUCTION 

The last fleet of equipment that completed the modernization and expansion program of 
Semirara Mining Corporation (SMC), which commenced in 2004 to address the growing 
demand for Semirara coal, arrived in the first half of the current year.  Consequently, the 
completed expansion program has ramped up the capacity of the Company to move 
materials up to 40 million bank cubic meters (bcm), translating to an annual capacity of 4 
million to 4.5 million run-of-mine (ROM) coal.  The “economies of scale” at this level is 
expected to bring down cost of production that will make the company more competitive 
against imports, at the same time, bring up the company’s level of business to the vast 
potentials of the export market in the region which management looks forward to initiate in 
2007. 

 
Consequently, 2006 registered the highest material movement in the history of the 
Company’s operations at 38.42 million bcm, registering a 38% increase over the previous 
year’s material movement of 27.88 million bcm.  Coupled with the increased capacity, this 
growth was also spurred by the fact that coal demand was slower in 2006, such that mining 
activities were largely focused on material movement instead of coal extraction.  
Management opted to use available capacity removing material burden to fully utilize its 
production equipment but left stripped coal at the pit for future deliveries.  Pre-stripped coal 
is estimated to amount to 1.3 million MTs with a market value of at least P2.3 billion as of 
yearend.  This inventory is not recognized in the Company’s balance sheet in accordance 
with the Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.  The coal can be easily extracted at 
minimum cost in the succeeding year.  As a result, waste material to coal ratio (or strip ratio) 
correspondingly demonstrated a significant increase of 76% at 14.13:1, compared to last 
year’s ratio of 8.02:1.  This translated to a lower ROM coal production of 2.59 million metric 
tons (MTs), 19% short compared to 2005 production of 3.19 million MTs.  The resulting net 
total product coal was correspondingly lower at 2.27 million MTs, registering a 21% slump 
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from 2005 net production of 2.89 million MTs.  Coal stockpile inventory amounted to 606 
thousand MTs with a book value of P1.02 billion as of yearend 2006. 

 
Firming up on Quality Improvement, expansion of the coal washing plant was also achieved 
during the year, while drying facilities were installed to cater to the needs of the cement 
industry.  

 
To further address Cost Reduction, it is worth mentioning that a second Crusher and 
Conveyor System was laid down to minimize the use of trucks for hauling material handling 
to reduce fuel cost which is the single biggest cost item.  Installed capacity is now up to 30% 
of total material handling capacity.  To run the systems efficiently, the company’s 2 x 7.5 MW 
coal-fired power plants underwent rehabilitation. 

 
II. MARKET 

Demand for Semirara coal slumped in 2006.  Competition from the natural gas-fired plants as 
well as entry of cheaper imports limited coal deliveries to power plants.  For the year, coal 
sales volume registered at 2.076 million MTs, 16% lower than last year’s 2.479 million MTs.  

 
The Calaca Plants of the National Power Corporation (NPC) accounted for 62% of the total 
coal delivered, translating to 1.294 million MTs.  This reflected a 6% increase over the 
previous year’s NPC Calaca sales of 1.225 million MTs.  NPC Calaca Plant Number 2 had 
limited operations in 2005 due to a series of technical problems encountered during the 
course of its maintenance shutdown.  Meanwhile, sales to other NPC plants, like Sual and 
Pagbilao, significantly dropped from 207.14 thousand MTs in 2005 to 5.96 thousand MTs in 
the current year.  Apart from import commitments, the Sual plants encountered problems in 
the second half of the year, resulting to plant shutdown.  On the other hand, Pagbilao was 
awash with inventory as imported coal intended for Masinloc and Sual were diverted to 
Pagbilao.  Sale to Non-NPC power plants likewise fell from 348.79 thousand MTs to 195.74 
thousand MTs this year, thus greatly contributing to the considerable reduction of total 
consumption of power plants from 1.78 million in 2005 to 1.50 million in 2006. 

 
The drop in the demand for cement likewise resulted to the decrease in the off-take of 
Semirara coal by cement plants to 531.29 thousand MTs in the current period, from 666.97 
thousand MTs in the previous year.  The cement market accounted for 26% of the total sales 
of the Company. 

 
Nevertheless, despite the bleak picture of the power and cement markets, sales to industrial 
users of Semirara coal increased by 56% to 48.94 thousand MTs in the current period from 
31.46 thousand MTs in the previous year.  Although the total volume may not be impressive, 
it is worthy to note that towards the end of the year, the Company started to deliver to small 
industrial and manufacturing plants that were shifting to coal from more expensive fuels like 
bunker and diesel.  This is a welcome development for the Company since it has been the 
thrust of management to reduce dependence on a few major customers and to penetrate 
more non-traditional users of Semirara coal. 

 
Interestingly, during the current year, the Company received several inquiries on the 
feasibility of exporting coal to China.  Towards the end of the period, the Company was 
finalizing a deal for a test shipment to South China. 

 
Composite price for Semirara coal is almost at the same level as last year, registering a slight 
increase at P2,211.76/MT compared to the previous year’s price of P2,204.67.   

 
III. FINANCE 
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A.  Sales and Profitability 

The 16% drop in sales volume correspondingly registered a decrease in Coal Sales from 
P5.47 billion in 2005 to P4.59 billion in the current period.  Meanwhile, with more volume 
delivered to Calaca this year, Coal Handling Revenues consequently rose by 11% to 
P96.34 million from P86.51 million last year.  The resulting Gross Revenues is P4.69 
billion, 16% lower than the previous year’s Revenue level of P5.55 billion.  Revenue 
distribution remained at 98% Coal Sales and 2% Coal Handling Revenues. 

 
On the other hand, higher strip ratio resulted to a 12% rise in Cost of Sales from P3.31 
billion, which includes Coal Handling Cost of P113.38 million, in 2005 to P3.71 billion this 
year, inclusive of Coal Handling Cost of P70.36 million.  On a per metric ton basis, the 
impact of advanced stripping is significantly reflected in the 36% increase in Cost of Coal 
Sold at P1,754.82/MT in 2006 as against last year’s reported figure of P1,287.39/MT.  
Cash costs in the current period comprised 68% of total cost/MT, while depreciation, 
depletion and amortization comprised 32%.  The previous period’s cost is composed of 
61% cash costs and 39% non-cash costs.  More depreciable equipment were acquired 
related to capacity expansion causing a rise in depreciation cost. 

 
The resulting Gross Profit ratio is considerably lower at 21% this year as against 2005 
profitability ratio of 40%.  In absolute amounts, the current period’s Gross Profit 
registered a 57% decrease from P2.25 billion in 2005 to P974.53 million this year. 

 
Operating Expenses recorded a substantial reduction of 51% at P133.13 million as at 
yearend 2006, as compared to the previous period’s figure of P271.64 million.  Reduced 
Coal Sales brought down Government Share by 13% at P138.27 million in 2006 from 
P158.78 million in 2005.  General and Administrative Expenses posted a reduction of 
105%, largely as a result of the reversal of the Provision of Real Property Taxes 
amounting to P73.5 million, in accordance with Presidential Decree (PD) 972 exempting 
the Company from all taxes except income tax. 

 
Meanwhile, the 80% increase in Financing Cost is attributed to the increased number and 
value of Letter of Credits opened for the purchase of various parts used for the 
maintenance program of machineries and equipment, construction of second line in-pit 
crushing and overburden conveying system, and rehabilitation of the power plants.  
Moreover, base rates for foreign-denominated loans, which comprised 49% of total loans, 
increased with the rise in 180-day LIBOR from 3.7650% in 2005 to 5.2963% in 2006, and 
90-day SIBOR from 3.5619 % in 2005 to 5.2326% in 2006.  Hence, the resulting Financing 
cost was recorded at P213.04 million in 2006, as against 2005 figure of P118.52 million.  It 
should be noted however that there was a reversal in Accrued Interest Expenses on past 
due royalty payments for prior years in 2005 amounting to P86.7 million as settlement 
was reached with the Department of Energy.  

 
Finance Revenue, which reflected interest income on savings accounts and short-term 
placements and investments, is lower by 1% from P55.11 million in 2005 to P54.53 million 
in the current year, despite the sizeable reduction in the cash level from P1.33 billion in 
2005 to P510.44 million as at yearend 2006. 

 
Meanwhile, the continued strengthening of the Philippine Peso as against the US dollar, 
which is the currency of all foreign-denominated loans, afforded the Company to 
recognize Foreign Exchange Gains of P119.96 million from its foreign loans, recording a 
22% increase over the previous year’s gains of P98.09 million.  Of the amount, P34.29 
million were Realized and P85.70 million is Unrealized. 
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Collection of insurance claims amounting to P70.21 million and gains on sale of phased-
out mining support equipment amounting to P20.07 million spurred the increase of 
Other Income account by 24.2x to P107.61 million in 2006 from P4.44 million in the 
previous year.   

 
The resulting Net Income Before Tax fell by 55% at P910.47 million, which is 19% of 
Revenues in 2006, from P2.01 billion in 2005 or 36% of Revenues.  Provision for Income 
Tax in the current year amounted to P309.23 million, of which P297.26 million is due and 
payable in the current year while P11.97 million represents provision for deferred tax 
liability; total provision is effectively 33.97% of taxable income.  On the other hand, 2005 
Provision for Income Tax was recorded at P422.61 million, which is only 20.97% of the 
year’s pre-tax income.  The effective tax rate in the current period is higher compared to 
the previous year since 2005 provision included the application of the remaining Net 
Operating Loss Carry Over (NOLCO) amounting to P455.13 million and Minimum 
Corporate Income Tax (MCIT) of P67.42 million.  Consequently, Net Income After Tax in 
the current year amounted to P601.24 million, registering a 62% drop from 2005 After-
Tax Income of P1.59 billion. 

 
B.  Financial Condition, Solvency and Liquidity 

Due to adverse market developments, the company failed to meet sales targets in the 
current year.  Consequently, not only did Revenues drop, but cost of coal sold also 
soared as operations accounted for full costs of pre-stripping activities, in accordance 
with the consensus of the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) of the Financial Accounting 
Standards Board (FASB) set forth in EITF Issue No. 04-6, Accounting for Stripping Costs 
Incurred during Production in the Mining Industry.  Management opted to fully utilize 
available capacity by stripping waste, instead of controlling operations to balance 
stripping activities with coal extraction.  As a result, the Company’s financial condition 
has experienced a slight setback in terms of liquidity.  However, despite the sluggish 
market, which is the root cause of reduced profitability, the Company was still able to 
maintain a healthy cash position and report a sound balance sheet. 

 
Despite the huge drop in profitability, Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities only 
showed a slight decrease of 8.29% from P1.30 billion in 2005 to P1.19 billion in 2006.  This 
is primarily due to the decrease in Receivables by P608.23 million in the current year 
compared to an increase in the account by P366.99 million reflected in the previous 
period and the tempered increase in Inventories by P474.28 million this year as against 
last year’s figure of P811.31 million.  Moreover, 2005 reflected a decrease in Accounts and 
Other Payables of P581.37 million versus the current period’s decrease by a smaller 
amount of P80.31 million as last year’s statement recorded complete settlement of some 
old accounts.  These included payment of DOE past due accounts amounting to P193.3 
million and payment of Due to Related Parties amounting to P152.7 million incurred in 
2004.   

 
As the expansion and modernization program reached its final phase in 2006, P1.5 billion 
worth of machineries and equipment were purchased during the period.  Purchases of 
new mining equipment worth P1.21 billion and other Capital Expenditures (CAPEX) 
amounting to P291.19 million was recorded in 2006.  The amount, however, is lower than 
total CAPEX of P1.78 billion in 2005, comprised of various mining equipment amounting 
to P1.58 billion and P207.71 million other CAPEX.  This decline in cash outflow was 
partly offset when the Company placed P300 million in Temporary Investments with an 
Affiliate.  As a consequence, Net Cash Used in Investing Activities exhibited a drop from 
P1.18 billion in 2005 to P574.17 million in the current year.   
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Meanwhile, the Company’s Financing Activities recorded a Net Cash Used amounting to 
P1.44 billion, compared to the previous period’s Net Cash Inflow From Financing 
Activities amounting to P1.18 billion.  The previous year recorded cash inflows from 
proceeds of shares offering amounting to P1.62 billion which shored up cash resources.  
Although loans repayment amounted to P1.28 billion, higher amounts of loans 
amounting to P1.2 billion were also availed.  On the other hand, the current year’s cash 
flows reflect Repayment of Long-Term Debt of P1.28 billion, but was offset by lower loan 
borrowings.  Furthermore, in 2006 for the first time in its history, the Company paid cash 
dividends amounting to P333.09 million, thus putting more dent to its cash position. 

 
While 2005 recorded a net cash generation of P1.30 billion, the current year exhibited a 
Net Decrease in Cash amounting to P821.20 million.  As a result, 2006 Cash End is lower 
at P510.44 compared to 2005 cash level of P1.33 billion. 

 
Correspondingly, Current Assets fell to P3.41 billion as at end 2006 from the P3.95 billion 
level in the previous year.  The Temporary Investment mentioned above is an investment 
to the parent Company, which has a tenor of 180 days, earning a very attractive rate of 
11%.  The drop in Trade Receivables from P1.09 billion in 2005 to P505.73 million in the 
current year mainly accounted for the decrease in Net Receivables from P1.17 billion last 
year to P566.88 million this year, reflective of the lower sales.  Meanwhile, low market 
demand resulted to an increase in Coal Inventory to P1.02 billion this year accounting for 
606 thousand MTs of coal from P552.62 million in the previous year.  As a result, Net 
Inventories rose to P1.84 billion from P1.37 billion as at end 2005.  The increase in Other 
Current Assets is primarily caused by the rise in the amount of Creditable Withholding 
Taxes on Coal Sales withheld by customers to P175.34 million in the current year from 
P83.06 million in 2005.  This increase is largely due to the government-mandated 
withholding of 5% VAT by the National Power Corporation which the Company is 
reclaiming in accordance with its VAT exemptions. 

 
On the other hand, the completion of the last leg of the expansion program brought up 
Property, Plant and Equipment to P3.10 billion, with additions amounting to P1.50 
billion, partially offset by Depreciation, Depletion and Amortization totaling to P1.34 
billion.  Consequently, Non-Current Assets registered a 4.4% increase from P2.97 billion 
in 2005 to P3.11 billion as at end of the current year.  The decrease in Other Non-Current 
Assets was mainly driven by the decrease in Marginal Deposits on equipment and parts 
purchases from P42.82 million in 2005 to P5.64 in the current year.  The resulting Total 
Assets reflected a 6% drop from P6.93 billion as at end 2005 to P6.51 billion in 2006. 

 
Notwithstanding the modest profitability reported during the current year, the Company 
was able to significantly trim down its Total Liabilities by 20% from P2.74 billion as at 
end 2005 to P2.19 billion as at end of the current year.  The reclassification of Long-Term 
Portion of Long-Term Debt to Current Portion posted an increase in the Current account.  
Also, most loan availments during the year have short-term tenors to take advantage of 
cheaper financing charges compared to long-term loans, giving due consideration to the 
Company’s overall liquidity.  Combined, these resulted to a 15% growth in Total Current 
Liabilities from P1.17 billion in 2005 to P1.34 billion this year.  On the other hand, the 
payment of Accounts and Other Payables, the settlement of last year’s Income Taxes 
Payable, and the delivery of coal to customers with advance payments tempered the net 
increase in Total Current Liabilities of P180.3 million. 

 
Total Non-Current Liabilities meanwhile showed a 46% fall from P1.57 billion in 2005 to 
P850.66 million this year, mainly as a result of the pre-payment of Marubeni loan 
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amounting to $7.42 million before its maturity and reclassification of Long-Term Debts.  
Moreover, in accordance with the Philippine Accounting Standards (PAS) 19, the 
Company continued to acknowledge its liability to fund the retirement benefits of the 
employees, which resulted to an increase in Pension Liability by 27% from P42.33 million 
in the previous year to P52.67 million this year. 

 
The adoption of the New IFRS/IAS in the previous year caused changes in accounting 
standards which compelled the Company to restate prior years’ financial statements and 
recognize certain deferred tax liabilities.  Net Deferred Tax Liabilities rose by 19% from 
P61.83 million in 2005 to P73.79 million as at end 2006.  

 
Although in terms of absolute amounts, the decrease in Total Liabilities recorded at 
P539.63 million is higher than the reduction in Total Assets by P416.73 million, the 
reclassification from long-term to current portion of Long-Term Debts and availments of 
short-term financing resulted to a dip in the Current Ratio from 3.39:1 in 2005 to 2.53:1 
this year. 

 
The recognition of net profits in 2006, tempered by the distribution of Stock Dividends of 
P333.09 million, further boosted the strong equity position of the Company.  Meanwhile, 
a continuation of the shares buyback program which commenced in 2005 increased Cost 
of Treasury Shares by 38% from P383.63 million in the previous period to P528.89 million 
as at yearend with the acquisition of additional 5,499,500 common shares costing P145.26 
million in 2006.  The resulting Total Stockholders’ Equity was impressive at P4.31 billion 
as at end 2006 from P4.19 billion in the previous year, recording a 3% growth.  As a 
consequence, Debt-to-Equity ratio further improved to 0.51 in the current period, 
compared to last year’s ratio of 0.65. 

 
C. Performance Indicators 

1. Production & Sales Volume – These two indicators are main drivers of profitability, 
with direct impact on cost and revenues.  In terms of capacity, the Company can 
already easily serve an increasing demand of up to 4.5 million MTs.  Economies of 
scale should also work in the Company’s favor in reducing cost of production.  
However, production level should be correspondingly matched with demand to 
achieve optimum cost efficiency.  During the current year, low market demand 
pushed management to continue stripping operation, which in turn adversely 
affected profitability level.  However, it proved to be a wise decision for 
management, since towards the latter part of the year, several interested buyers were 
already knocking at the Company’s door wanting to explore possibilities of 
exporting Semirara coal.  Subsequently, the Company had a maiden voyage 
exporting its coal to South China in the first quarter of 2007.  As of this writing, it has 
received more supply proposals from foreign buyers. 

2. Average Selling Price – This is another profitability driver.  Semirara being the 
single largest coal producer in the country, producing more than 92% of total local 
output practically comprise the whole coal industry in the country.  Hence, it 
benchmarks its selling price to global coal prices.  Notably, it has inherent advantage 
over landed cost of imported coal, which includes freight cost and 12% Value Added 
Tax (VAT).  By virtue of PD 972, the Company is VAT-exempt.  On the other hand, 
pricing of Semirara coal to local customers is vulnerable to foreign exchange 
movements. 

3. Capital Expenditures –  The Company’s growth potential depends on its ability to 
timely increase its capacity to meet growing demand.  There is an increased global 
demand for mining equipment as the mining industry has become more active in the 
recent years.  As a result, delivery lead time of mining equipment is at least 6 
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months.  More often, delivery period is 18 months.  Hence, Capital Expenditures 
should be a major factor in planning and strategizing to balance financial strength 
and growth.   

4. Debt to Equity (D/E) Ratio – The mining industry is capital intensive.  The ability of 
the company to raise funds to finance its operations and acquisition requirements 
largely depends on its financial strength.  The D/E Ratio is a good indicator of the 
Company’s financial condition.  Over the years, the company has remarkably 
improved its D/E Ratio, such that the current year set a new record of 0.51, a further 
improvement of the previous year’s already sound D/E ratio of 0.65. 

5. Improved Coal Quality – The Company’s thrust to improve and expand its market 
should be complimented with efforts to improve acceptability of its product by 
continuously enhancing coal quality.  This need is further underscored by the 
opening of the export market to Semirara Coal.  In this light, the Company has 
continuously exerted efforts to enhance the value of its product.  The inherent 
characteristics of Semirara coal may only limit its potential, but other quality 
parameters can still be improved by incorporating additional processes, such as coal 
washing/drying to improve ash content and lower moisture.   

 
B. INFORMATION ON INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANT AND OTHER RELATED MATTERS 
 

The principal accountants and external auditors of the Company is the accounting firm Sycip, 
Gorres, Velayo and Co. (SGV & Co.).  Pursuant to the General Requirements of SRC Rule 68, 
paragraph 3 (Qualifications and Reports of Independent Auditors), the company has engaged the 
services of SGV & Co. as external auditor of the Company and Ms Jessica D. Cabaluna is the 
Partner-In-Charge for less than five years or starting 2006 only.  

 
(1) External Audit Fees and Services  

 
(a) Audit & Audit Related Fees- The Company paid its external auditors the following fees 

in the past two (2) years: 
 

In Millions Pesos with VAT
2008 1.3
2007 1.16
Total 2.464

 
(b) Tax Fees- There are no fees billed in each of the last fiscal years for professional services 

rendered by the SGV & Co. for tax accounting, compliance, advice, planning and any 
other form of tax services. 

 
(c) All Other Fees – There are no fees billed in each of the last two fiscal years for products 

and services provided by SGV & Co. other than services reported under item a. above.
 

1. There have been no changes in or disagreement with the Corporation’s 
accountants on accounting and financial disclosures. 

 
2. The Corporation’s Audit Committee makes recommendation on the 

appointment, reappointment or replacement of external auditor to the Board.  It 
is charge with the evaluation the audit work engagements, its scope, fees and 
terms for approval of the Board of Directors. The Audit Committee also reviews 
non-audit services and taxation advice by the external auditor.  At the conclusion 

                                                 
4 Audit Fees only, no fees for other assurance and related services were paid. 



 

 - 31 - 
 

 

SEMIRARA  
MINING  
CORPORATION 

of the annual audit, it discusses with Management and the external auditor 
significant reporting issues. Lastly, the Audit Committee reviews external audit 
findings in respect of any significant deficiencies or weaknesses in controls and 
ensure that Management responds appropriately with timely corrective actions, 
including audit adjusting entries noted or proposed but passed as immaterial or 
otherwise. 

 
 

PART IV – MANAGEMENT and CERTAIN SECURITY HOLDERS 
 
A. Directors and Executive Officers of the Issuer 
 

(1) The following are the names, citizenship, educational attainment, positions, offices and 
business experiences of all incumbent Directors and Executive Officers of the Corporation: 
 
 

NAMES/ BUSINESS EXPERIENCES /CITIZENSHIP/ EDUCATIONAL 
ATTAINMENT 

 
1. DAVID M. CONSUNJI, 87, Filipino, is a Director and Chairman of the Board of the 

Corporation.  In 2008, he has attended all meetings of the Board including the Annual 
Stockholders’ Meeting of the Corporation.  He is a graduate of B.S. Civil Engineering at 
the University of the Philippines. He is currently the Chairman of the Board of D.M. 
Consunji, Inc., Dacon Corporation and DMCI Holdings, Inc. He is also a director of 
Atlantic Gulf & Pacific Co., Inc., and Semirara Cement Corporation.  He was the former 
Secretary of the Department of Public Works, Transportation and Communications from 
August 23, 1971 to 1975, President of the Philippine Contractors Association, President of 
International Federation of Asian & Western Pacific Contractors’ Association, President 
of Philippine Institute of Civil Engineers, Vice-President of the Confederation of 
International Contractors’ Association. He also served as the Chairman of the Contractors 
Association, the Philippine Domestic Construction Board, the Philippine Overseas 
Construction Board, and the U.P Engineering Research and Development Foundation, 
Inc. 

2. ISIDRO A. CONSUNJI, 60, Filipino, is a Director, Vice-Chairman and Chief Executive 
Officer of the Corporation.  He is the Chairman of the Nomination and Election 
Committee of the Corporation. In 2008, he has attended all meetings of the Board 
including the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting of the Corporation.  He is a graduate of B.S. 
Civil Engineering at the University of the Philippines. He is currently the Chairman and 
CEO of DMCI Mining Corporation, Vice-Chairman of DMCI Masbate Power Corporation 
and DMCI Concepcion Power Corporation and President of DMCI Holdings, Inc. He is a 
director of Dacon Corporation, M&S Company Inc., DMC-Urban Property Developers, 
Inc., Crown Equities, Inc., Beta Electric Corporation, Semirara Cement Corporation, and 
Universal Rightfield Property Holdings, Inc.  He is also a Director of the Maynilad Water 
Services.  He was the former President of the Philippine Constructors Association and 
Philippine Chamber of Coal Mines, Inc. 

3. VICTOR A. CONSUNJI, 58, Filipino, is the President and Chief Operating Officer of the 
Corporation. In 2008, he has attended all meetings of the Board including the Annual 
Stockholders’ Meeting of the Corporation.  He is a graduate of A.B. Political Science at 
the Ateneo de Davao. He is the Chairman of the Board of Trustees of Divine Word School 
of Semirara Island, Inc. and Chairman, President and CEO of Semirara Training Center, 
Inc.  He is also a director of D.M. Consunji, Inc., M&S Company, Inc., Dacon Corporation, 
Sodaco Agricultural Corporation, DMC Urban Property Developers, Inc., Ecoland 
Properties, Inc., DMCI Power Corporation, DMCI Mining Corporation, DMCI Masbate 
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Power Corporation and DMCI Concepcion Power Corporation.  He is the Chairman and 
CEO of DMCI Power Corporation, Chairman of DMCI Concepcion Power Corporation.  
He is also the President of Sirawai Plywood & Lumber and DMCI Masbate Power 
Corporation. 

4. JORGE A. CONSUNJI, 57, Filipino, is a Director of the Corporation.  In 2008, he has 
attended 6 out of 7 meetings of the Board including the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting of 
the Corporation.  He is a graduate of B.S. Industrial Management Engineering at the De 
La Salle University.  He is currently the President/COO of D.M. Consunji, Inc. and 
Director of DMCI Holdings, Inc., Dacon Corporation, DMCI Project Developers, Inc., 
Cotabato Timberland Co., Inc., M&S Company, Inc., Sodaco Agricultural Corporation, 
DMCI Mining Corporation, DMCI Power Corporation, DMCI Masbate Power 
Corporation, DMCI Concepcion Power Corporation, Director of Eco-Process & 
Equipment Phils. Inc., Maynilad Water Services, Inc.  He is the Chairman of DMCI 
Masbate Power Corporation and President of Royal Star Aviation, Inc.  He is also the 
Vice-President of Divine Word School of Semirara Island, Inc.  He was the former 
Chairman of the Board of Contech Panel Mfg., Inc., and of Wire Rope Corp. of the 
Philippines.  He was the former President of ACEL and Former First Vice-President of 
Phil. Constructors Association.  He is a member of Baguio Country Club, Manila Golf 
Club, Metropolitan Club, Inc., and Wack Wack Golf & Country Club. 

5. CESAR A. BUENAVENTURA, 79, Filipino, is a Director of the Corporation. In 2008, he 
has attended 4 out of 7 meetings of the Board including the Annual Stockholders’ 
Meeting of the Corporation.  He is a graduate of B.S. Civil Engineering at the University 
of the Philippines. He finished his M.S. Civil Engineering as Fulbright Scholar at the 
Lehigh University, Pennsylvania. He is currently the President of Atlantic Gulf & Pacific 
Company of Manila (AG&P) and Vice-Chairman of DMCI Holdings, Inc. He is a director 
of Montecito Properties, Inc., Pilipinas Shell Petroleum Corporation, Philippine American 
Life Insurance Company, PetroEnergy Resources Corporation, iPeople, Inc., Paysetter 
Holdings Limited and Paysetter International, Inc., and Semirara Cement Corporation. 
He is the founding Chairman of Pilipinas Shell Foundation, Inc.; President of the Benigno 
S. Aquino Foundation; and Member, Board of Trustees, Asian Institute of Management. 
He was the Chief Executive Officer of Shell Group of Companies in 1975 and appointed 
member of the Monetary Board of the central Bank of the Philippines. He was also a 
member of the Board of Directors of the Philippine International Convention Center in 
1981, Regents of the University of the Philippines and a Senior Adviser of Jardine Davies. 
He was a director of the Philippine National Bank, Asian Bank, AB Capital Investment 
Corporation, Ayala Corporation, Benguet Corporation, First Philippine Holdings 
Corporation, Ma. Cristina Chemical Industries and Philippine Airlines, Inc.     

6. HERBERT M. CONSUNJI, 56 years old, Filipino, is a Director and Treasurer of the 
Corporation.  In 2008, he has attended 4 out of 7 meetings of the Board including the 
Annual Stockholders’ Meeting of the Corporation.  In the past five years, he has held and 
currently holds the following positions: (a) Chairman of Subic Water & Sewerage 
Corporation, (b) Director & Vice President & Chief Financial Officer of DMCI Holdings, 
Inc., (d) Director of DMCI Project Developers, Inc., (e) Director & Chief Operating Officer 
of Maynilad Water Services, Inc., (f) Director of DMCI Power Corporation, and (g) 
Director of DMCI Mining Corporation.  He is also President of Village Parks, Inc. and 
Partner, H.F. Consunji & Associates. 

7. VICTOR C. MACALINCAG, 73, Filipino, is an Independent Director of the Corporation.  
He is the Chairman of the Audit Committee of the Corporation. In 2008, he has attended 
all meetings of the Board including the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting of the 
Corporation.  He is a holder of a Bachelor of Business Administration (BBA) degree from 
the University of the East and a Certified Public Accountant (CPA). He completed his 
academic requirements for a Masteral Degree in Economics and is a fellow of the 
Economic Development Institute of the World Bank.  He is presently the Chairman of AZ 
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Development Managers, Inc.  He is an Independent Director of Crown Equities, Inc. and 
Merchants’ Bank. He is a consultant of First Metro Securities Brokerage Corporation. He 
is a Director of Finman General Insurance Corp., Universal LRT-7 and Republic Glass 
Holdings, Inc. He was an Independent Director of Merchants’ Bank.  He was formerly 
the Undersecretary of Finance from 1986 to 1991, Deputy Minister of Finance from 1981 
to 1986, Treasurer of the Philippines from 1983 to 1987, President of Trade & Investment 
Development Corporation of the Philippines (TIDCORP) from 1991 to 2001. He was also 
a director of the Home Guarantee Corporation from 1979 to 2001, the Philippine 
Overseas Construction Board from 1991 to 2001, the Philippine Long Distance Telephone 
Company from 1988 to 1995, the National Power Corporation from 1978 to 1986 and the 
Regent of Manila Hotel from 1984 to 1986.  He was also a director of Philippine 
Aerotransport, Inc., Paper Industries Corporation of the Philippines, Lumang Bayan 
Realty Corporation and Manila Midtown Development Corporation.   

8. GEORGE G. SAN PEDRO, 69, Filipino, is a Director, Vice-President for Operation and 
Resident Manager of the Corporation.  In 2008, he has attended all meetings of the Board 
including the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting of the Corporation.  He is a graduate of B.S. 
Civil Engineering at the University of the Philippines. He used to work for D.M. 
Consunji, Inc., Dacon Wood Based Companies, DMC-CERI, and CONBROS Shipping 
Corporation.  Currently, he is the President of Divine Word School of Semirara Island, 
Inc. and Vice-President of Semirara Training Center, Inc. 

9.  FEDERICO E. PUNO, 62, Filipino, is an Independent Director of the Corporation.  In 
2008, he has attended 5 out of 7 meetings of the Board including the Annual 
Stockholders’ Meeting of the Corporation.  He is a graduate of B.S. Civil Engineering at 
the University of the Philippines. He took up his M.S. Industrial Administration at the 
Camegie Mellon University, Pittsburgh, U.S.A.  He is President and Chief Executive 
Officer of TeaM Energy Corporation. He was the President/CEO of San Roque Power 
Corporation.  He was also the Director of Forum Pacific, Inc., Independent Director of 
Republic Glass Holdings, Corp. and Director of Pampanga Sugar Dev. Corp.  He was a 
Director of the Manila Electric Company. He was the President of Anchor Steel 
Industries; President of National Power Corporation; President of Asahi Glass Corp.; 
President of Republic Glass Holdings, Corp.; Head of the Chief Financial and 
Management Services of the Ministry of Energy; Assistant Treasurer of the Bureau of 
Treasury and (Ministry of Finance); Vice-President-Finance of the Phil. National Oil 
Company; and Vice-President-Finance/Senior Vice-President-Finance and 
Administration of the National Power Corp. 

10.  MA. CRISTINA C. GOTIANUN, 53, Filipino, is a Director of the Corporation.  She is 
the Chairman of the Remuneration and Compensation Committee of the Corporation. In 
2008, she has attended 5 out of 7 meetings of the Board including the Annual 
Stockholders’ Meeting of the Corporation.  She is a graduate of B.S. Business Economics 
at the University of the Philippines.  She majored in Spanish at the Instituto de Cultura 
Hispanica in Madrid, Spain.  She is currently a Director and Corporate Secretary of 
Dacon Corporation and Vice-President for Finance & Administration/CFO of D.M. 
Consunji, Inc.  She is the Finance Director of DMC-Project Developers, Inc., Director of 
DMCI Power Corporation, DMCI Masbate Power Corporation and DMCI Concepcion 
Power Corporation.  She is also the Treasurer & CFO of DMCI Power Corporation, 
Treasurer of DMCI Masbate Power Corporation and DMCI Concepcion Power 
Corporation. She is the Assistant Treasurer of DMCI Holdings, Inc.  

11.  MA. EDWINA C. LAPERAL, 47, Filipino, is a Director of the Corporation.  In 2008, she 
has attended 5 out of 7 meetings of the Board including the Annual Stockholders’ 
Meeting of the Corporation.  She is a graduate of B.S. Architecture at the University of 
the Philippines.  She also took her Master’s Degree in Business Administration in the 
same University.  She is currently the Director and Treasurer of DMCI Holdings, Inc., 
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and DMCI Project Developers, Inc.; Treasurer of Dacon Corporation and DMC Urban 
Property Developers, Inc.; and D.M. Consunji, Inc.  

12.  GEORGE B. BAQUIRAN, 64, Filipino, is the Vice-President for Special Projects and has 
held said position for the past five years.  He is a graduate of B.S. Geology and also a 
holder of a Masters Decree in Geology at the University of the Philippines. He has held 
the position of Vice-President held the position of Vice-President for Energy Exploration 
from June 1979 to January 1982; AVP, Exploration from April 1979 to June 1979; 
Manager, Exploration from February 1977 to March 1979 in Vulcan Industries and 
Mining Corporation.  He is the Project Director of DMCI Concepcion Power Corporation. 

13.  NESTOR D. DADIVAS, 56, Filipino, is the Chief Finance Officer.  He is a graduate of 
B.S. in Commerce at the University of San Agustin, Iloilo City, Summa cum Laude, 
majoring all major subjects: Accounting, Banking and Finance and Business. He is also a 
holder of a Master’s Degree in Business Management at the Asian Institute of 
Management, Majored in Finance. He is currently a Director DMCI Power Corporation, 
DMCI Masbate Power Corporation, and DMCI Concepcion Power Corporation.  He is 
also the President of DMCI Power Corporation.  He was the Vice-President for Finance 
of Phelps Dodge Philippines, Inc. and a member of its Executive Committee, and Senior 
Vice-President for Atlas Fertilizer Corp.  He was Head of Corporate Planning for the 
Elizalde and Company in 1976. 

14. JAIME B. GARCIA, 53 years old, Filipino, is the Vice-President for Procurement and 
Logistics.  He is a graduate of B.S. Management and Industrial Engineering at Mapua 
Institute of Technology. He took also his Master’s in Business Administration at De La 
Salle University in 1994 and Master’s in Business Economic at the University of Asia & 
the Pacific in 1998.  He is currently holding the position as Director of Royal Star 
Aviation, Inc., and Semirara Cement Corporation, Senior Manager-Purchasing of M&S 
Company, Inc., and DMC Construction Equipment Resources, Inc.  He is an Industrial 
Engineer by profession. 

15. JUNALINA S. TABOR, 45 years old, Filipino, is the OIC-Chief Finance Officer.  She is a 
graduate of Bachelor in Science in Commerce, major in Accounting at Saint Joseph 
College.  She took her Master’s in Public Administration at the University of the 
Philippines in 1993.  Prior to joining the Corporation in 1997, she was the State Auditor I, 
II, & III of the Commission on Audit from 1993 to 1997, respectively. 

16.  JOHN R. SADULLO, 38, Filipino, is the Corporate Secretary.  He is a graduate of A.B. 
Major in Political Science at the University of the Santo Tomas.  He is a holder of a 
Bachelor of Laws Degree at the San Beda College of Law.  He took the bar exams in 1996 
and was admitted in 1997.  He currently holds position as Legal Counsel and Corporate 
Secretary of Semirara Mining Corporation; and Corporate Secretary of the following 
corporations:  (a) DMCI Masbate Power Corporation; (b) DMCI Concepcion Power 
Corporation; and (c) Divine Word School of Semirara Island, Inc.  He is currently the 
Assistant Corporate Secretary of Semirara Training Center, Inc.  He was previously the 
Corporate Secretary of DMCI Mining Corporation. 

 
The nominees for election or re-election of the directors have been indicated in the 
Company’s Definitive Information Statement (SEC Form 20-IS) sent to stockholders of record.  
The officers of the corporation will be known in the organizational meeting of the Board of 
Directors which will follow immediately after the annual stockholders’ meeting. 

 
Term of Office.  The term of office of the Directors and Executive Officers is one (1) year 
from their election. All Directors will have served for a period of approximately twelve (12) 
months by May 6, 2008. 
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Independent Directors.  DMCI Holdings, Inc. shall nominate and elect at least two (2) 
Directors in the Board of Directors’ Registrant pursuant to Section 38 of the Securities 
Regulation Code. 

 
Other Directorship Held in Reporting Companies: 

 
David M. Consunji  Chairman, DMCI Holdings, Inc. 
Cesar A. Buenaventura  Vice-Chairman, DMCI Holdings, Inc. 

 PetroEnergy Resources Corporation 
 iPeople, Inc. 

Isidro A. Consunji  President & CEO, DMCI Holdings, Inc. 
 Chairman, Universal Rightfield Property 

Holdings, Inc. 
 Director, Crown Equities, Inc. 

Jorge A. Consunji  Director, DMCI Holdings, Inc. 
Victor A. Consunji  Director, DMCI Holdings, Inc. 
Herbert M. Consunji  Director, DMCI Holdings, Inc. 
Ma. Cristina C. Gotianun  Director, DMCI Holdings, Inc. 
Ma. Edwina C. Laperal  Director, DMCI Holdings, Inc. 
Victor C. Macalincag  Director, Crown Equities, Inc. 

 Director, Republic Glass Holdings, Inc. 
 
(2) The following are the Significant Employees/Executive Officers of the Issuer 

Names Citizenship Position Age 
David M. Consunji Filipino Chairman 87 
Isidro A. Consunji Filipino Vice-Chairman/CEO 60 
Victor A. Consunji Filipino President/COO 58 
George G. San Pedro Filipino VP-Operations/Resident Manager 69 
George B. Baquiran Filipino VP-Special Projects 64 
Ma. Cristina C. Gotianun Filipino VP-Administration 54 
Nestor D. Dadivas Filipino Chief Finance Officer 57 
Jaime B. Garcia Filipino VP-Procurement & Logistics 53 
Junalina S. Tabor Filipino OIC-Chief Finance Officer 45 
John R. Sadullo Filipino Corporate Secretary 38 

 
(3) Family Relationship 

The family relationship up to the fourth civil degree either by consanguinity or affinity 
among directors or executive officers is as stated below. 

 
Mr. David M. Consunji is the father of Messrs. Isidro A. Consunji, Victor A. Consunji, Jorge 
A. Consunji, Ma. Cristina C. Gotianun and Ma. Edwina C. Laperal.  Mr. Herbert M. Consunji 
is nephew of Mr. David M. Consunji and cousin of Messrs. Isidro A. Consunji, Victor A. 
Consunji Jorge A. Consunji, Ma. Cristina C. Gotianun and Ma. Edwina C. Laperal. 

 
(4) Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedings 

None of the directors and officers was involved in the past five years in any bankruptcy 
proceeding.  Neither have they been convicted by final judgment in any criminal proceeding, 
nor been subject to any order, judgment or decree of competent jurisdiction, permanently 
enjoining, barring, suspending, or otherwise limiting their involvement in any type of 
business, securities, commodities or banking activities, nor found in action by any court or 
administrative body to have violated a securities or commodities law. 
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Except for the following, none of the directors and executive officers of the Company is 
subject to any pending criminal cases: 

 
(a) A complaint for violation of Article 315 (2) (a) of the Revised Penal Code, as qualified 

by Presidential Decree No. 1689 is pending preliminary investigation with the 
Department of Justice against the directors and officers of Universal Leisure Club 
(ULC) and its parent company, Universal Rightfield Property Holdings, Inc., 
including Mr. Consunji as incumbent Chairman, Mr. Cesar Buenaventura and 
Edwina C. Laperal as former directors of ULC. Complainants claim to have been 
induced to buy ULC shares of stock on the representation that ULC shall develop a 
project known as “a network of 5 world clubs.” 

 
B. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

All executive officers of the Corporation are elected or appointed by the Board of Directors and 
serve for one year and until their successors are duly elected and qualified.  Set forth below are 
the names of the CEO and four (4) most highly compensated officers of the Corporation: 

 
Name and Principal 

Position 
Years Salary Bonus Other Annual 

Compensation 
 

Isidro  A. Consunji 
Vice-Chairman & CEO  

    

Victor A. Consunji 
President and COO 

    

Nestor D. Dadivas 
Chief Finance Officer 

    

Jaime G. Garcia 
VP-Procurement and 
Logistics 

    

George G. San Pedro 
VP & Resident Manager 

    

    2007 9,692,204.88    3,647,559.24 
 2008      10,431,980.00         2,862,802.19 
 2009      10,431,980.00*           2,862,802.19* 
 Total P30,556,164.88 -  0  -     P9,373,163.62 

2007 5,945,293.72  1,718,400.22  
2008  5,423,600.83  1,434,766.57 

All other officers and 
directors as a group 
unnamed 

2009  5,423,600.83*      1,434,766.57* 

  Total  P15,047,828.50  -  0  -      P4,196,800.44 
 *Approximate amounts 

 
The amount reflected as compensation of the named executive officers represents salary 
approved by the Corporation’s Board of Directors.  The amounts indicated in relation thereto are 
restated to conform to the new accounting standards. 
 
Board of Directors’ compensation is on a per diem basis in the amount of PhP20,000.00.  Said 
compensation is dependent on the number of meetings held on said year. There are no other 
arrangements such as consulting contracts. 
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There is no contract covering their employment with the Corporation and they hold office by 
virtue of their election to office.  The Corporation has no agreements with its named executive 
officers regarding any bonus, profit sharing, except for benefits for which they may be entitled 
under the Corporation’s pension plan.   
 
There are no warrants and options outstanding held by the registrant’s CEO. 

 
C. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management 
 

(1) Security Ownership of Certain Record and Beneficial Owners 
The following table sets forth as of December 31, 2008, the record or beneficial owners of 
more than 5% of the outstanding common shares of the Corporation and the amount of such 
record or beneficial ownership. 

 
Title of 
Class 

Name, Address of 
record owner and 
relationship with 

Issuer 

Name of 
Beneficial Owner 
and Relationship 

with Record 
Owner 

Citizenship Amount/ 
Nature of 
Record/ 

Beneficial 
Ownership 

Percent 
of 

Class 
 
 

Common DMCI Holdings, 
Inc. 
3/F DACON 
Building, 2281 
Pasong Tamo 
Extension, Makati 
City, 
Stockholder of 
record 

1.PCD Nominee 
Corporation, 
stockholder of   
949,590,216 
shares or 
35.76% 

2.Dacon 
Corporation, 
stockholder of 
1,367,756,488 
shares or 
51.51% 

Filipino 156,706,785 
(R) 

56.46 
 

Common PCD Nominee 
Corp (NF), 
stockholder of 
record 

Hongkong and 
Shangkai Banking 
Corp. Ltd. holds 
69,587,233 shares 
or 25.07% 

Other Alien 87,658,033 31.58 

Common  PCD Nominee 
Corp., stockholder 
of record 

N/A Filipino 15,702,117 05.66 

 
(2) Security Ownership Management 

The table sets forth as of December 31, 2008 the beneficial stock ownership of each Director of 
the Corporation and all Officers and Directors as a group. 
 

Title of 
class 

Name of beneficial owner Amount and 
nature of 
beneficial 
ownership 

Citizenship Percentage 

Common David M. Consunji 10 Filipino 0.00 
Common Isidro A. Consunji 10 Filipino 0.00 
Common Cesar A. Buenaventura 5,0105 Filipino 0.00 
Common Victor A. Consunji 84,2106 Filipino 0.03 

                                                 
5 5,000 shares under PCD Nominee Corporation. 



 

 - 38 - 
 

 

SEMIRARA  
MINING  
CORPORATION 

Common Jorge A. Consunji 10 Filipino 0.00 
Common Herbert M. Consunji 10 Filipino 0.00 
Common Victor C. Macalincag 190,010 Filipino 0.07 
Common George G. San Pedro 5,030 Filipino 0.00 
Common Federico E. Puno 10 Filipino 0.00 
Common Ma. Cristina C. Gotianun 99 Filipino 0.00 
Common Ma. Edwina C. Laperal 101 Filipino 0.00 
Common  Jaime B. Garcia 40,030 Filipino 0.01 
Aggregate Ownership of all directors and 
officers as a group 

324,540 Filipino 0.12 

 
The percentages of ownership of the above officers and directors are very minimal.  There are 
no arrangements, which may result in a change in control of the registrant. 

  
D. Certain Relationship and Related Transactions 

There has been no transaction or proposal for the last two (2) years, to which the Registrant was 
or is party, in which any of the directors, executive officers or nominees for director has direct or 
indirect material interest. 

 
 

PART V – DISCUSSION ON COMPLIANCE WITH LEADING 
PRACTICE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
The Corporation is committed to the principles and leading practices of good corporate governance 
that promote higher standards of accountability and transparency, provide effective oversight of the 
Company’s business, and enhance shareholder value.  To date, there has been no deviation from the 
company’s Manual on Corporate Governance. The Corporation has substantially complied with the 
principles and leading practices of good governance. The Corporation constantly reviews its 
corporate governance policies with the end in view of improving the same. 
 
THE BOARD 
The Board of Directors (Board) is responsible for the overall corporate governance of the Company. It 
establishes key policies, provides strategic guidelines and ensures adequate control mechanisms are 
in place to manage and conduct the affairs of the Company. The Board’s other mission is to maintain 
a sense of responsibility to the Company’s customers, employees, suppliers and the communities in 
which it operates.  
 
The full Board consists of eleven (11) Directors, including two (2) Independent Directors, with 
qualifications and such numbering compliance with the Philippine regulatory requirement for 
publicly-listed companies.  

 
The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (CEO) are made separate to ensure an 
appropriate balance of power, increased accountability and greater capacity of the Board for 
independent decision-making. The Chairman oversees and leads the Board on behalf of the 
shareholders, while the CEO implements the key strategies set by the Board. The Vice Chairman 
concurrently holds the position of CEO.  
 
BOARD PERFORMANCE  
The Board had six (6) meetings including its organizational meeting, and one (1) shareholders’ 
meeting in 2008. Board meetings are open and candid with independent views given due 

                                                                                                                                                       
6 84,200 shares under PCD Nominee Corporation. 
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consideration. The Independent Directors bring an objective mindset during Board deliberations. 
Board meeting attendance of the Directors met the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) 
requirement of more than 50% attendance.  
 
BOARD COMMITTEES 
The Board established three (3) Committees in aid of good governance to support its fiduciary 
functions and to achieve effective checks and balances. The Committees are guided by Board-
approved Charters in the discharge of their roles and responsibilities. The Board Committees 
annually assess the effectiveness of their Charters, and recommend any proposed changes to the 
Board for approval. The Corporate Secretary, Good Governance Officer and Legal unit provide full 
support to the good governance committees. 
 
Matrix presentation of the Board and Committee memberships is herein set forth.  
 

SEMIRARA MINING CORPORATION - BOARD OF DIRECTORS 2008 
Committee Membership 

Directors Board Membership 

Nomination 
and Election 
Committee 

Audit 
Committee 

Compensation 
and 

Remuneration 
Committee 

David M. Consunji Chairman    
Isidro A. Consunji Vice Chairman,CEO Chairman    
Victor A. Consunji President, COO  Member  
George G. San Pedro VP-Operations    
Ma. Cristina C. Gotianun VP-Administration   Chairman  
Jorge A. Consunji Director    
Herbert M. Consunji Director   Member 
Cesar A. Buenaventura Director    
Ma. Edwina C. Laperal Director    
Victor C. Macalincag Independent Director Member Chairman  Member 
Federico E. Puno Independent Director Member Member  

 
Nomination and Election Committee 
The Nomination and Election Committee is comprised of three (3) Members of the Board, 
two of whom are Independent Directors. The Committee’s main function is to review, 
recommend and promulgate guidelines involving the nomination process and criteria for the 
Board of Directors as stated in the Amended By-Laws, Amended Manual on Corporate 
Governance and pertinent SEC rules.  
  
In 2008, the Committee had one (1) meeting attended by all Members. It reviewed the 
qualifications of Board nominees for directorship ensuring they meet the requisite 
qualifications and endorsed the final list of nominees for election. It developed an Executive 
Succession Plan Policy and Board performance evaluation system involving full board self-
assessment and individual director peer evaluation which were subsequently approved by 
the Board.  
 
The Committee Chairman has consistently attended the Annual General Meetings in the past 
two years to give shareholders an opportunity to address the Committee. 
 
Compensation and Remuneration Committee  
The Compensation and Remuneration Committee is comprised of three (3) Members of the 
Board, one of whom is an Independent Director. The Committee’s main function is to 
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establish a formal and transparent procedure for developing a remuneration policy for 
Directors, officers and key employees consistent with the Company’s culture, strategy and 
control environment. It also requires Directors and Officers to declare under penalty of 
perjury all their existing business interests or shareholdings that may directly or indirectly 
cause conflict of interest in the performance of their duties. 
 
In 2008, the Committee had one (1) meeting attended by all Members. It reviewed and 
discussed the overall director and executive remuneration and benefits package. It also 
discussed and recommended for Board approval the financial and non-financial metrics for 
CEO performance evaluation.    
 
The Committee Chairman has consistently attended the Annual General Meetings of the 
Company’s shareholders in the past two years. 
 
Audit Committee  
The Audit Committee is comprised of three (3) Members of the Board, two of whom are 
Independent Directors. The Committee’s main function is to assist the Board in fulfilling its 
oversight responsibilities of financial reporting, external audit performance, internal audit 
performance, internal control and risk management processes as well as compliance in 
reporting, legal and regulatory requirements. 
 
The Committee is chaired by an Independent Director. Its Members possess the requisite 
levels of financial and accounting competencies, experience and other qualification 
requirements set by the SEC, as well as having an adequate understanding of the Company’s 
mining business and related industries.  
 
Committee Meetings were scheduled at appropriate points to address matters on a timely 
basis. Written agenda and materials were distributed in advance to allow for meaningful 
review and full discussion during meetings. Management of the finance and legal functional 
units are regularly invited to Committee meetings to discuss updates in financial 
performance, regulatory developments and compliance matters. Minutes of the Committee 
meetings are circulated to all Board Directors. 
 
The Committee also reviewed and discussed with Executive Management the Company’s 
budget, strategic risk management issues, investments in subsidiaries, conflict-of-interest, tax 
planning, industry developments, market and marketing issues. The Committee’s summary 
of significant activities during the year is presented in a separate Audit Committee Report 
section. 
 
The Internal Audit functionally reports directly and has unrestricted access to the Audit 
Committee. It provides independent scrutiny of the control systems and risk management 
procedures. 
 
The Committee Chairman has consistently attended the Annual General Meetings of the 
Company’s shareholders in the past two years. 
 

 
COMPLIANCE 
George G. San Pedro, the Company’s Vice President and Resident Manager, is appointed by the 
Board as Compliance Officer designated to ensure adherence to corporate governance principles and 
best practices, as well as compliance to the Company’s Amended Manual on Corporate Governance.  
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The Compliance Committee, a sub-committee shares in the responsibility of ensuring compliance 
with the Company’s regulatory requirements. It is headed by the Compliance Officer and is 
comprised of two (2) Members who are executive officers tasked with compliance covering SEC, PSE, 
accounting and reporting standards, environmental, health and safety matters aligned to their 
functional scope of work responsibilities. The Compliance Members regularly report to the Audit 
Committee for assurance reporting. Continuous monitoring of regulatory developments and of 
compliance matters, including environmental, safety and governance issues assure the Board of 
effective management and strategic sustainability of these concerns.  
 

SEC and PSE 
The Company complies with the disclosure and reportorial requirements of the SEC and 
Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE). It is also compliant with the reporting of transactions 
involving any acquisition or disposal of the Company’s shares by its Directors within the 
prescribed reporting period. 
 
Environment
Environmental stewardship and social responsibility are core values of the Company. The 
Philippine coal industry is subject to stringent regulations of the Philippine government’s 
Department of Environment and Natural Resources (DENR). The Company is 
compliant with all the conditionalities of its Environmental Compliance Certificate issued by 
the DENR relative to the development and opening of the Panian coal mine, and the closing 
and rehabilitation of its old mine. A Multi-Partite Monitoring Team (MMT) comprised of 
various government sector representatives and surrounding stakeholders, oversees the 
Company’s compliance with the ECC conditions and all other applicable laws, rules and 
regulations. Consequently, the MMT issues a Compliance Monitoring and Verification 
Report on a quarterly basis.  
 
Safety
Safety is a core value of the Company. It defines the Company’s culture as a responsible 
energy company. The Company adopts the Australian standards and best practices in open-
pit coal mining operation. It strictly adheres to safety procedures, health and safety standards 
and worker education and training which have resulted to reduced accidents, injury events 
and zero fatality. The Company is compliant with the regulatory and reporting requirements 
of various Philippine government agencies tasked to oversee health and safety, among 
others. 
 

ENTERPRISE RISK MANAGEMENT 
The Board sets the tone and establishes the risk appetite level for the Company’s enterprise risk 
management system which provides reasonable assurance that risks are identified, assessed, 
managed and monitored in a timely manner. It reviews the risk strategies and agrees on policies for 
managing these risks.  
 
The Audit Committee assists the Board in its risk management oversight. Risk oversight ensures that 
policies are followed, limits are respected and controls are put in place. Functional unit heads are 
required to undertake a full assessment process to identify and quantify the risks inherent to and 
facing their respective business functions, and assess the adequacy of the prevention, monitoring and 
mitigation measures in addressing such risks. Results of the risk reviews are reported to the Audit 
Committee and thereafter to the Board.  
 
GOOD GOVERNANCE PROGRAM 
The Company’s good governance initiatives aim to foster a culture of compliance, performance, 
transparency and accountability within the organization and to enhance shareholder value.  
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Board Performance Review 
The Company adopts best practices of good corporate governance for its Board performance 
evaluation processes which include scorecard measures, full Board self-assessment and peer 
director evaluation.   
 
The Audit Committee also conducts a review of its own performance annually with a self-
assessment questionnaire. Moreover, it solicits feedback from Executive Management team to 
affirm and/or improve its Committee performance. 
 
Good Governance Guidelines for Board Directors 
The Board formalized and approved good governance guidelines for its Directors regarding 
tenure, service on other company boards and conflict of interest, among others. 
 
Code of Conduct 
Semirara Mining Corporation has adopted Codes of Conduct for Directors & Executive 
Officers, and Employees (Codes) to affirm the Company’s standards of professional and 
ethical business conduct, workplace safety and environmental responsibilities. The Codes 
promote fair dealings with the Company’s customers, service providers, suppliers, and other 
stakeholders. Directors, Officers and Employees are required to annually certify compliance 
with the Codes.  
 
Fraud and Ethics Response Policy 
This Policy reinforces the Company’s commitment and determination to maintain a culture 
of integrity and an opposition to fraud and corruption. It sets out the ways in which 
employees and other stakeholders can voice their concerns and how the Company will deal 
with such issues. 
 
Insider Trading Policy 
Directors, Officers and employees are required to abide by the Company’s prescribed 
restrictions and no-trading periods of the its shares of stock in the market. They are also 
required to subsequently report their trades of the Company’s shares for eventual 
compliance reporting to SEC and PSE and/or monitoring.  
 
Governance Training and Continuing Education 
The Board Directors, Officers and key Legal staff have participated in training on Corporate 
Governance and relevant governance topics. Directors are periodically provided reading 
materials on subjects relevant to their duties as part of their continuing education.  In 2008, 
Directors made several visits to the Company’s mine sites to gain a closer understanding of 
the current business operations and ongoing community projects. 
 

RECOGNITION 
The Company ranked among the Top 15 Publicly-Listed Companies in the 2008 “Corporate 
Governance Scorecard for Publicly-Listed Companies in the Philippines”, a partnership project 
between the Institute of Corporate Directors, SEC, Philippine Stock Exchange and Ateneo Law 
School. The Scorecard project adopts the East Asian Template as part of a regional effort to improve 
corporate governance in East Asia and already used in Thailand, Hongkong, China and Indonesia. 
The Company scored highly with 92% as compared to the Philippine aggregate score for all 
participating companies of 72%. Likewise, the Company was among the Top 20 Philippine Listed 
Companies given due recognition in the same project in 2007. These achievements affirm the 
Company’s significant and continuing progress in its overall corporate governance framework 
through the adoption of global best practices promoting higher standards of performance, 
transparency and accountability to all stakeholders.   
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In December 2008, the Company’s coal mining activity has been assessed and certified as conforming 
to ISO 9001:2000, 14001:2004 and OHSAS 18001:2007 Standards on Quality Management System, 
Environmental Management System and Health and Safety Management System, respectively.   
 
SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND RELATIONS  
Semirara Mining Corporation promotes a good governance culture of transparency and equal respect 
of shareholders rights embodied in its Amended Manual on Corporate Governance. It maintains a 
share structure that gives all shares equal voting rights.  
 
To sustain investor confidence, the Company maintains a policy of open and constant 
communication and disclosure of its activities, subject to insider information guidelines. It engages in 
conference calls and/or meets with institutional and prospective investors, analysts and the financial 
community, as appropriate. Corporate information is communicated to shareholders by timely and 
adequate disclosures to the SEC and Philippine Stock Exchange. 
 
WEBSITE 
The Company’s organization structure, performance and significant corporate information, including 
disclosures may be viewed at the Company’s website, www.semiraramining.com.  

 
 

PART VI – EXHIBITS AND SCHEDULES 
 

A. Exhibits and reports on SEC Form 17-C 
 

(1) Exhibits 
See accompanying Index to Exhibits as well as the Company’s Audited Financial Statements 
for the recently completed fiscal year.  These financial statements are reports from the 
Corporation’s Independent Public Accountant, SGV& Co. 

 
(2) Reports on SEC Form 17-C 

There are SEC Forms 17-C filed during the last six-month period covered by this report, to 
wit: 

 
No. Subject Date Reported 
1. Certification on Board attendance for year the 2008. January 7, 2009 
2. Certification on the extent of compliance with the 

Manual on Corporate Governance for the year 2008. 
 

January 7, 2009 
3. Disclosure on the Corporation’s certification as 

conforming to ISO 9001:2000, ISO 14001:2004, and 
OHSAS 18001:2007 issued on December 11, 2008. 

January 23, 2009 

4. Filing of a case docketed as “Semirara Mining 
Corporation vs. Commissioner of Internal Revenue, CTA 
Case No. 7867,” involving tax refund/credit for the 
amount of P15,292,054.93 representing final 
withholding value added tax erroneously withheld by 
NPC on coal sales covering the period of January 
2007. 

February 6, 2009 

5. Clarification of news article entitled “Semirara to export 
2.5-tons of coal this yr” published in the February 16, 
2009 issue of the Philippine Star. 

February 16, 2009 

6. Disclosure on results of Nomination and Election 
Committee meeting. 

February 16, 2009 

7. Clarification of news article entitled “Semirara island February 24, 2009 
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residents urge stop to pollution by coal mining firm” 
published in the February 24, 2009 issue of the 
Philippine Daily Inquirer.  

8. Disclosure on results of Board of Directors meeting:  
(i) approval of the Audited Financial Statements for 
the year ended December 31, 2008; (ii) Fixing of the 
date of Annual Stockholders’ Meeting, Record Date, 
and venue; and (iii) amendment of Art. 10 of its 
Articles of Incorporation. 

March 12, 2009 

9. Disclosure on the results of Special Board of Directors 
meeting:  declaration of cash dividend, and fixing of 
Record and Payment Dates. 

March 30, 2009 

 



sonny
Text Box
-45-



 

 - 46 - 
 

 

SEMIRARA  
MINING  
CORPORATION 

SEMIRARA MINING CORPORATION 
 

SEC FORM 17-A 
 

INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULES 
 

    Page 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 Statement of Management Responsibility for Financial Statements ------------------- 47 
 Report on Independent Public Accountants ------------------------------------------------- 48 
 Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2008 & 2007 -------------------------- 50 
 Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years ended December 31, 2008 

& 2007 ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

53 
 Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements ------------------------------------------------ 54 
    
SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULES  
 Report of Independent Public Accountants on Supplementary Schedules 99 
 A. Marketable Securities (Current Marketable Equity Securities and Other 

Short-Term Cash Investments) ---------------------------------------------------------- 
 

100 
 B. Amounts receivable from directors, officers, employees, related parties, 

and principal stockholders (other than affiliates) ---------------------------------- 
 

101 
 C. Non-Current Marketable Equity Securities, Other Long-Term Investments 

in Stock, and Other Investments -------------------------------------------------------- 
 

102 
 D. Indebtedness of Unconsolidated Subsidiaries and Affiliates ------------------- 103 
 E. Intangible Assets – Other Assets ------------------------------------------------------- 104 
 F. Long-Term Debt ---------------------------------------------------------------------------- 105 
 G. Indebtedness to Affiliates and Related Parties (Long-Term Loans from 

Related Companies) ----------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

106 
 H. Guarantees of Securities of Other Issuers -------------------------------------------- 107 
 I. Capital Stock --------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 108 
 J. Retained Earnings -------------------------------------------------------------------------- 109 
 


































































































































	SEMIRARA MINING CORPORATION
	SEC FORM 17-A
	OF THE CORPORATION CODE OF THE PHILIPPINES
	Address of principal office             Postal Code
	A. Description of Business
	B. Description of Property
	C. Legal Proceedings 


	PART II – SECURITIES OF THE REGISTRANT
	8. GEORGE G. SAN PEDRO, 69, Filipino, is a Director, Vice-President for Operation and Resident Manager of the Corporation.  In 2008, he has attended all meetings of the Board including the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting of the Corporation.  He is a graduate of B.S. Civil Engineering at the University of the Philippines. He used to work for D.M. Consunji, Inc., Dacon Wood Based Companies, DMC-CERI, and CONBROS Shipping Corporation.  Currently, he is the President of Divine Word School of Semirara Island, Inc. and Vice-President of Semirara Training Center, Inc.
	       2,862,802.19
	         2,862,802.19*
	    P9,373,163.62
	Common
	Ma. Cristina C. Gotianun
	99
	Common
	Ma. Edwina C. Laperal
	101
	Common 
	Jaime B. Garcia
	40,030
	Aggregate Ownership of all directors and officers as a group

	CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
	The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (CEO) are made separate to ensure an appropriate balance of power, increased accountability and greater capacity of the Board for independent decision-making. The Chairman oversees and leads the Board on behalf of the shareholders, while the CEO implements the key strategies set by the Board. The Vice Chairman concurrently holds the position of CEO. 
	A. Exhibits and reports on SEC Form 17-C





